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TEENAGE SUICIDE

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 3, 1984

U.S. SENATE.
SUBCOMMITTEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE,
COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:05 a.m., in room
226, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Arlen Specter (chairman
of the subcommittee) presiding.

Staff present: Mary Louise %Vestmoreland, chief counsel and staff
director; Eva Carney, counsel; and Tracy McGee, chief clerk.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. ARLEN SPECTER, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM THE STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA, CHAIRMAN, SUBCOM-
MITTEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE

Senator SPECTER. Good morniug, ladies aiid gentlemen.
We will begin this hearing of the Juvenile Justice Subcommittee
" of the Judiciary Committee.

Our h:aring this morning involves the issue of teenage suicides,
where there has been a very dramat.c increase over the past 25
years, and particularly disconcerting have been the clusters of sui-
cides which have occurred in communities such as Fairfax County,
VA, in 1980 and 1981, and in Plano, TX, earlier this year.

The witnesses today will focus on the factors that may lead to
teenage suicide, and also on what might be done to prevent that
trage g, and what the Federal Government is currently doing on
the subject in a variety of ways, and what action the Federal Gov-
ernmgnt might undertake to expand its activities in this important
regard.

There have already been legislative initiatives by two States,
California and Florida, inandating suicide prevention programs,
and New York has just earmarked some $3,500,000 for suicide
awareness and a prevention program in schools statewide.

This is another one of the burgeoning problems that we find
among the young people of our country, and the Juvenile Justice
Subcommittee has been reviewing the situation for some time, and
thought these hearings to be an appropriate way to focus in on this
problem, with a view toward some expanded Federal legislative
corrective action.

I would like to call as our first witnesses today Marcia and
Robert Scherago, who were parents of a child who fell victim to
suicide as a teenager; and also, ‘“Patricia ana Julie Smith,” who will
share with us a situation which they have experienced. Patricia
Smith is the mother of Julie, who has attempted suicide.
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If you would come forward, I would appreciate it at this time.

Mr. and Mrs. Scherago, let us begin with you. We know how dif-
ficult it is for you to appear here and discuss this subject. We ap-
preciate your being willing to come here as a means of shedding
light on this important subject, which may prevent other people
from undergoing the trauma which has befallen your family.

M};. Scherago, will you begin, or will you have Mrs. Scherago go
first?

STATEMENTS OF A PANEL CONSISTING OF MARCIA AND ROBERT
SCHERAGO, BURKE, VA; “JULIE SMITH” ACCOMPANIED BY HER
MOTHER, “PATRICIA SMITH,” DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA METRO-
POLITAN AREA

Mrs. SCHERAGO. I have been elected.

May I read my statement?

Senator SPECTER. By all means.

Mrs. ScHERAGO. | am speaking for myself at this point, since
there was not time for my husband to also submit a statement.

I am a bereaved mother, who is also a licensed social worker in
Virginia, working as a family and grief therapist in a private set-
ting.

I understand that one of the purposes of this hearing is to inves-
tigate a possible link between teenage suicide and a victim’s in-
volvement in the juvenile justice system and/or child abuse.

While I believe such a connection may exist, our 16-year-old son,
Steven, killed himself 4 years and 2 months ago today, and he did
not fit this connection.

I am now actively involved in a self-help group for bereaved par-
ents, the Coinpassionate Friends, and I heard the same from other
parents of cuicides.

Professionally, I have worked with people who have szriously
considered suicide as a viable alternative to living with emotional
pain. They have exhibited some common characteristics that my
son also showed, but the links appear to be the exception rather
than the expected. Substance abuse is sometimes involved, but
again, it is in the minority.

If this investigation only focuses on factors of substance abuse,
potential victims might be ignored and go undetected. My son and
all the thousands of other beautiful children who did not know that
there was another option dealing with emotional pain and death
will have died in vain.

A silent killer lives in this society and its allies are some of the
most influential people in our children’s lives, including parents,
family, friends, teachers, clergy, therapists, doctors, lawyers, jour-
nalists and lawmakers. This killer lives inside each of us and an-
swers to the names of ignorance, denial and stigma.

Frightened people resort to denial as a means of protecting them-
selves and making reality less threatening. When denial wears
thin, stigma is whipped into action to protect their vulnerability.
fI}dyths about reality are created to help maintain this line of de-
ense.

Such is the case, I believe, regarding teenage suicides. Ours is a
death-denying society that appears to ignore the scores of children
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who die each year at their own hands as dismissing them as being
“zonked” on something, mentally ill, or having bad parents.

Each time I speak of my son’s death, 1 deal with pain, just as I
am dealing with it as I speak to you today. I am a parent who is
acutely aware of the need to remove the wraps from the last taboo
subject in this society—death—and more specifically, teenage sui-
cide.

We expect children to respond on our level, as adults. We do not
know how to interpret their behaviors, which usually say more
than the words, as such, we miss their subtle signals and messages.
They get into emotional trouble, and often flounder around looking
for their lost self-esteem.

As it was with our son Steven, often these children are unusually
sensitive, caring people with high, unreachable expectations. They
are perfectionists, with emotional and sometimes physical immatu-
rity. They may also feel isolated or rejected by their peers, al-
though seeking acceptance. Steven talked about suicide, but was ig-
nored and not taken seriously.

A key factor for these at rish children is that they may suffer
what they perceive as a significant loss, such as the breakup of a
boy-girl relationship, or poor grades. For some unknown reason,
their pain is so overwhelming that the only solution seems to be to
end the pain by ending their lives.

Perhaps indigenous depression is one cause. Also, most adults do
not believe children experience significant depression.

My suggestions include educating these allies of this silent killer,
to listen and look more closely to the real signs and symptoms that
most teenagers exhibit.

Research into the whole range of factors contributing to teenage
suicide is needed. Food may be a contributing factor in the increase
of teenage suicide. Our foods are processed and sprayed differently
from those of my generation.

If we are to stem this epidemic, we must act now, or more of us
will be burying our children.

Thank you.

Senator SrecTer. Thank you very much, Mrs. Scherago.

[The prepared statement of Mrs. Scherago follows:]
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PREPARED STATEMENT oF MARCIA G. SCHERAGO

The perspective contained in this statement is that of a hereaved
mofther, who is alsoc a licensed social worker in Virginia working as a
family and grief therapist in a private sstting.

1 am aware that one of the purposes of this hasaring is to investigate
a possible 1ink between Yteenags suicide an® a victim's involvement in
the juvenile justice syst. m and/or child abuse.

While I believe that such a connection may exist, our sixteen-year-son
Steven killed himself four yecars and two months ago today, and he did
not fit this connection.

Since "is death I have become acquainted with bereav~d parents of suic
ides from all over the linited States, as 1 am actively involved in a
selt-help group for bereaved parents, The Compassionate Friends.

Professionally, I have worked with and am currently working with
young people (up to 25 years of age) who have attempted or have
seriously conasidered suicide as a viable alternative to living with
emotional pain. These clients have exhibited some common
characteristics that my son alsc showed, but the possible 1ink
previously identified appears to be the exception rather than the

expected. Drugs and alcohol are sometimes involved, but again they
a*y in the minority.

I Hope your hearing uncovers information to support or deny this
link, for either way the subject will get sorely needed attention,
publicity, and perhaps increased awareness, resulting in the saving
of children's lives. This investigation heartens me hecause teenage
suicide 1is the number two killer of youths, ages 16 to 24, in this
country, and if automobile accidents were investigated thoroughly,
suicide would surely rank number one. Obviocusly it has reached
epidemic proportions, increasing two hundred per cent in the last
twenty years.

Although teenage suicide is broad in its scope and you may have found
a starting place, it would be a waste of your time and my money if
you looked no further than this 1link. You see, this link narrows your
investigation so, that potential victims would be igndred and could
go undetected, and my son and all the thousands of other beautiful
children who did not know that there was another option to dealing
with emotional pain than death will have died in vain.

There is a silent killer that lives in this soclety and its unwitting
allies are some of the most influential people in children's 1lives.
This killer's allies include parents, family. friends, educators,
clergy, therapi- s, doctors, lawyers, journalists, broadcasters and
lafi-makers. This killer lives inside each of us and answers to ths
names of ignorance, denial and stigma. When human beings are
frightened they often resort to denial as a means of protecting
thumselves and making reality less threatening. When denial wears
thin, then stigma is whipped into action“so that their vulnerability
i3 not exposed. Myths about reality are usually spawned and
perpetuated to help maintain the line of defense. Such is the case, I
believe, regarding teenage suicide. Ours is a ceath-denying society
that appears to ‘gnore the scores of children who die each year at
their own hands by dismissing them as being ‘"zonked" on something,
mentally 1ill, or having bad parents. These are misconceptions, and if
they are permitted to continue the teenage suicide epidemic will
worsen because of a lack of understanding by all the silent killer's
allies and because we did not understand them as cries for help.

During the past fou: years and two months I have been refused the
opportunity to speak to PTA's, doctors, nurses, and hospital
personnel, to name Just a few groups, not because my fee was too
high, as there is no fee but because, I believe, the subject of
teenage suicide was too threatening, too close to home. When a
teenager's death is reported in the news it 1is a nameless face -




someone we don't know - but when the face belongs to someone we do
know then it is getting too close. I represent that threat.

Bach time I speak of my son's death I deal with paln, just as I am
dealing with it as I speak to you todzy. I am a parent who 1is acutely
aware of the nced to remove the wraps from the last taboo subject in
this soclety - death - and zore specifically, teenage suicide. our
children are trying to tell us that two cars ard three color
television sets are not enough for a happy home life. Affluence is
not the panacea to what ails our distressed youth. Learning to 1isten
to how our children talk and what they say and mean 1s a great step
toward understanding their needs. They tell us they are hurting and
they do not krow how to deal with that hurt. Learning to respond as
they need us to, rather than as we perceive they need us to would
provide a significant support system to our children in pain.

Children react and respond as children, not as adults; yet we expect
them to respond on our level. We do not know how to interpret their
behaviors which usually say more than their words or lack thereof. A:
such we miss their messages and signals; they get ihto emotional
trouble and often flounder around looking for their lost self-esteem.
It they never had much self-esteem then they are at risk. Often these
children are unusually sensitive, caring people with high
expectations who have no way reaching them, perfectionists with
emotional and sometimes physical immaturity. They may alsc feel
isolated or rejected by their peers, while seeking acceptance.

They may often talk about suicide to almost anyone who will listen,
but they are frequently ignored or not taken seriously.

A ey factor for these &t risk children is that they may suffer what
they perceive as a significant loss, such as the divorce of their
parents, a friend moving away, breakup of a boy/girl relationship,
loss of a job or a pet,Spoor grade(s), anything tney ‘perceive as a
fallure, abandonmert, rejection - essentially 1loas or control of
their 1livesr - can be the final blow. For some reascn those at risk
children cannot cope with 1loss well, and they seem to et mired in
feelings of helplessness and hopelessness, and the pain 1is so
overwhelming that the only solution seems to be to end the pain by
ending their lives. Perhaps indoginous depression (whereby a chemical
deficlency exists that prevenis us from dealing with depression) is
one cause Of their inability to deal with loss ¢nd depression. Also,
most adults do not believe children experience depression, at least
not to any significant degree.

My suggestions {nclude educating these allies of this silent killer
80 that they can listen and 1look more closely, not t2 textbook cases
of teenage suicide, which only foster false security, but to the real
signs and symptoma that most teenagers exhibit but which symptome are
not felt altogether.

Research into what factors besides peer pressure, drugs, alcchol,
abuse, pornography, and the social environment affect our children is
needed. Food may be a contributing factor in the increase of teenage
auicide; our fooda are processed and sprayed in different ways from
those of my.generation.

It 1is my bellef that there are several factors that are contributing
to the wasting of 1lives of our country's future. We must act to
reduce this, or more of us will be burying our children.

I thank you for this oppurtunity to make this plea.

ERIC
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Senator Spkcrkr. Mr. Scherago, would you care to add anything
to that at this time?

Mr. ScHERAGO. I do not have anything.

Senator SpecTER. Mrs. Scherago, do you have other children?

Mrs. ScCHERAGO. Yes.

Senator SpkcTeER. How many?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. We have another son, who is now 17.

Senator SpecTER. And how old was your son when he committed
suicide?

Mrs. SCHERAGO. Sixteen.

Senator SpecTeR. That was 4 years ago?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. Yes.

Senawor SpecTeER. What are the signs, if you were to give advice
to other parents, who may be seeing your face, and hearing your
voice, what advice would you give them as to what signs to look for
about potential for suicide in their children?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. Essentially I think I would tell them to observe,
rather than to listen, although listening is important, and it cer-
tainly is significant. But I think, as I said, we tend to communicate
with our children as we communicate with adults, thinking that if
we say no, everything is just fine, or yes, I am in trouble, then we
can assume that that is exactly what is going on. It is not necessar-
ily the case.

Senator SpecTer. Well, when you say to observe, rather than to
listen, or in addition to listen, your son did talk about suicide.
What did he say?

Mrs. ScHeEraGO. He asked me if I had ever considered committing
suicide when I was younger, and I feel like most adults, one time in
their lives, yes, I did consider it, so I saw it as a very natural ques-
tion.

Senator SpecTER. How long did he say that to you before he acta-
ally took his life?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. Timewise?

Senator SPECTER. Yes.

Mrs. ScHERAGO. It is hard to say. I would say anywhere between
a couple of weeks, and maybe 2 months, at the most.

Senator SpecTER. So it is fairly close to the time that he actually
committed suicide?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. Yes, sir.

Senator SpECTER. And how many times did he talk to you about
suicide?

Mrs. SCHERAGO. Just once.

Senator SPECTER. As nearly as you can recollect, what did he say
to you, and you to him, on that occasion?

Mrs. ScHErRAGO. Well, when he asked me, I said sure, I have con-
sidered it. I took it kind of lightly, and he said, well, what did you
think about it. And I said, well, I thought that would be nice if I
did that, but then I would be } ind of giving in to the reasons why I
felt that way. I would be letting other people win over me, and I
was not that type of personality, and I am not now, today.

So I do not know whether I triggered any further response in
him, or what my response meant to him. Chviously it was not the
response that he needed.

10
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Senator Specter. Were you especially concerned when he talked
to you about suicide?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. No. No. I thought this was a normal question for
a teenager to ask.

Senator SPECTER. In retrospect, what kind of response do you
think you should have given him?

Mrs. ScHERGAO. Well, my education has helped me to understand
that both on a professional and personal level. I think an appropri-
ate response would be, well, gee, are you thinking about it? What
thoughts do you have?

In other words, encourage the child to talk about what is going
on inside of him or her, to find out what exactly it is that triggers
the question in the first place. What do you think about? What
have you thought about it? Have you thought about it before?
Wnat would you like to talk about?

In other words, open up the area for discussion. The tendency is
to run and hide from it. As I said, it is very frightening. Very
frightening.

But when I work in e professional setting, if someone says that
to me, I say what is that all about. Tell me about that, and people
will share that information. They do not want to carry it around
with them, not even our children.

Senator SpECTER. Mrs. Scherago, when you say that beyond lis-
tening, you should observe the child. If you were to give advice to
parents about listening and observing, what would you tell other
parents to try to observe?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. I would say changes in the behavior that seem to
tend to isolate them, or perhaps they seem to start going in a dif-
ferent direction than they were heaued.

Now, one of the problems with this, Senator Spectzr, is the fact
that teenagers will do this any way, so we kind of look at them and
think, now, wait a minute, if this is typical for a teenager, why is
this child so much at risk? We do not know if that child is so much
at risk, or not so much at risk.

So if we observe, and we become keyed into their behavior, then
we are keeping track of them, more than just ignoring them. That
is what I am saying.

Senator SercTeEr. Well, you say observe. Look for change of atti-
tudes, change of directions. Can you give some illustration as to
what you would be looking for?

Mrs. Scueraco. Well, for instance, if there is a change in the
performance in school, if they are having difficulties concentra.ing,
signs of depression that are very subtle, if they are having prob-
lems concentrating, if they are spe 1ding more time alone, if they
seem to be angrier than usual, if th: y have lost a friend recently, I
see that as a real key factor for teenage suicide, a loss that they
perceive, not we, but they perceive.

And in our son’s situation, a best friend of his was moving out of
town, now he was not moving out of the State, but he was aoving
a distance away, and this meant Steven would not cama.aderie
with him that he had enjoyed for a time before. We did not per-
ceive that as being a critical issue for him, obviously he did.

11
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Senator Seecter. Beyond the parents listening and talking, do
ou make any recommendations about parents seeking professional
el;;, therapy?

Mrs. ScHErAaco. That is an individual basis, sir. That would be

;e:l'y difficult, to go across the board and say everybody should get
elp.

course, we are finding in the newspaper today that one in five

gople have some type of mental probl 'm, so perhaps help might

indicated if parents feel that the situation is not necessarily out

of control, but perhaps it is beyond their understanding or exper-
tise.

Senator SpectER. You have done some work in therapy yourself,
of course?

Mrs. SCHERAGO. Yes, sir.

Senator SPECTER. Are there any guidelines you could give par-
ents in when to seek help, what signs to look for especially as a
guidepost in seeking help?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. If they do not seem to be able to stay on track
with their child, if they really feel that there is too much of a space
between them and their child, and they are uncomfortable with it,
I think space is essential for teenagers, they need to know that.
They have independence and the ability to do their own thing, but
it has to be done within limits. And, of course, that is an individual
thing, what works in one family will not necessarily work in an-
other, so it is a very difficult thing to really zero in on. I think that
1 would advise parents to get their head out of the sand, pay atten-
tion to their children. If they ignore the children, it is not going to
do them any good, and if they do not ignore them, it may create
some anxiety initially, but at least perhaps it might save their chil-
dren’s lives, and it might save their family a lot of pain and an-
guish afterwards.

Senator SPECTER. Mrs. Scherago, you have said thet one thing
that you would do differently would be to have discussed the
matter with your son in a different manner when he brought up
the subject?

Mrs. SCHERAGO. Yes.

Senator SpEcTER. I am sure that you thought about this subject a
lot of times as a matter of hindsight.

Can you amplify in any way what you might have done different-
ly, which you think might have prevented his suicide?

Mrs. SCHERAGO. Oh, dear. How much time do we have?

Senator SPECTER. As much as you need.

Mrs. SCHERAGO. Yes.

[Pause.]

Mrs. ScHERAGO. I am not quite sure I understood the question.

Senator SpEcTER. Well, I think that probably the center of your
experience which would be of interest to other people, would be if
you were to retrace your steps.

Mrs. ScHERAGO. In a broad sense?

Senator SpecTeErR. Well, in a broad sense, and by hindsight. We
are looking at the problem in a number of dimensions, one very
powerful aspect of what this hearing can do, is to tell other parents
in situations like yours what to look for. We can talk about legisla-
tion, and we will, trying to provide some assistance, but probably
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one of the greatest aspects of these hearings is to acquaint other
people with the nature of the problem, and in terms of what you
can do for other people would be to use the experience that you
had, the very tragic experience that you have had, to give them
some insights as to what to look for.

So if you v-ere to view this in retrospect, looking backwards, I am
sure you have done this many times, conversation with each other,
or as you think about the matter, if you were to look backward and
find some critical point in your relationship with your son, that
you might have done something differently, not that you have done
anything wrong, there is no blame here, but what would you do dif-
ferently with 20-20 hindsight? What would you look for, to try to
have prevented vour son’s suicide?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. | think one of the things n.ight be to luuk very
serinusly at these losses that children do have, and referring back
to poor grades, or sudden changes. loss of a friend, som2thing that
seems insignificant and normal in all of us as we grow up, but look
at them the way children look at them, and ask ourselves is this
really very, very serious for him or her.

And I think—well, as I say, look at it very seriously.

Senator SpeCTER. All right, that is a danger signal, the chi.d has
sustained substantial reversal, a friend just leaves, bad grades, cut
from the football team, something which is very painful.

What do you do? How do you handle it? What do you say? Do
you bring up the subject? Do you wait for the child to bri.ig up the
subject?

Mrs. ScHerAco. Well, that is where I am saying that the problem
may arise. They may not bring up the subject, at Jeast not verbally,
but if we start to watch them on a continuum of behavior versus
how they used to act, and how they are acting 1 week later or 2
weeks later, then we have a comparison, is this child responding in
untsual ways, unusual for him or her. Is there an extreme change
of behavior, and by extreme, that is something that can move a
quarter of an inch, or it could move 6 inches. It deperds on the in-
dividual.

Senator SvrcTER. So your advice would be on any sign of signifi-
cant change, or some loss, try to sound out your youngster, to find
out what they are thinking about, and how serious the impact is on
them?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. That is easier said than done.

Senator Srecter. Well——

Mrs. ScHERAGO. Yes, it is a very difficult thing to do.

Senator SpecTER. You have unique experierce at it.

Mrs. ScHERAGO. Yes.

Senator SpecteR. How would you articulate it?

Mrs. ScHeErAGo. Well, what T would do myself would be to touch
base with the child, and say to him or her, gee, you know you got
your report card, how did you do on it. How do you feel you did on
it? Rather than to lay on the child, gee, I think you did great.

Maybe the child does not think he or she did so great. Find out
from the child where they feel all of this is. How do they ride with
this” And getting the poor grade, we have to be clear about this,
getting a poor grade, or losing a friend does not necessarily mean
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that the child is cuicidal. It just means that he is just one of the at
risk factors.

How is that individual dealing with that? Are they dealing with
that in a rol’ coaster kind of effect that is going on and on, or do
they have tlhc ,ﬂps and the rises, the peaks and the valleys, and are
they leveling off? Are they learning how to deal with the extreme
behaviors, the things that are out of their cuntrol? That is what I
mean by observing the behaviors.

Senator SpecTeErR. Well, as a generalization, it cannot do any
harm to talk to your children about—--

Mrs. SCHERAGO. Of course not.

Senator SrECTER [continuing). Talk about anything, and especial-
ly their problems. maybe that i8 a good starting point. There is
some reversal, there i8 nothing to be lost, and pergaps much to be
gained by talking.

Mrs. SCHERAGO. | agree with th-t.

Senator SpecTER. I am a father of two young sons myself, and I
recall reading in the newspapers, from time to time, about a sui-
cide, and I would shudder, and I would wonder what is going on in
the minds of my two sons.

All right, you observe changes in their demeanor, personality,
they talk about reversal.

ould you, under any circumstances—] do not suppose you
would ever raise the question of suicide?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. Why not?

Senator SpecTER. OK, would you——

Mrs. SCHERAGO. See, that is like sex. If we do not talk about it,
then the kids will not know about it, and if we do not talk about
teenage suicide, then the kids will not know about it. You know
that is not true.

Senator SrEcTER. Well, that is a very big step, and I am very
much interested in your view. I would suspect, not having had the
experience, that to raise the issue of suicide would be unwise in
terms of planting the idea. You had the experience, what do you
think? You actually would raise the question of suicide under some
circumstances?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. Yes. You may not have to raise it directly as it
pertains to your child, but you might raise it as it pertains to an
article in a newspaper, or something on television, or in a maga-
zine, or in a book, or scmeone that you may have heard abc *, or
someone that you have heard about, that you know they have
heard about it.

Gee, you know, there is an epidemic of suicides in such and such
place. Are you aware of that? What do you suppose is going on
with these children? Gee, that is really sad.

Senator SpecTer. Well, that is a good suggestion.

Mrs. ScHERAGO. Yes. That is opening up the subject.

Senator SPECTER. You raise it indirectly in the context of some-
thing that has happened to somebody else, not something that you
suggest may be on their minds?

rs. SCHERAGO. Right, and that way you are raising the subject,
and y' 1 are not pointing it at them, you are not planting any more
seeds of thought than the news item itself has been planted, and
you are making it a possible subject for you both to talk about in
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an unemotional and impersonal manner, and that is always an ex-
cellent way to deal with a subject like that.

Senator SprcteR. Mrs. Scherago, you testified that your situation
did not involve either the issue of drugs or sexual abuse, and one of
the areas of concern by this subcommittee is any connection be-
tween those two situations, or runaways and suicide.

Based on your experience as a therapist, in your work with other
youngsters who have been involved in suicide, what is your pi1ofes-
sional opinion abut the problem of drugs as a cause of suicide?

Mrs. ScHErRAGO. Well, T believe it exists, and I am sure that there
are feelings of helplessness and hopelessness that our children ex-
perience in all areas of their lives, some of which we are not neces-
sarily aware of.

Senator SpecTei. Have you seen any cases where drugs were a
factor in a teenage suicide?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. Yes, I have. | have seen it more in a personal
than a professional level.

Senator SpeEcTEr. What guidance would you have for parents on
thé- s:lbject of drugs as a possible causative factor on teenage sui-
cides’

Mrs. ScHERAGO. Well, certainly we do not wan* our children in-
volved in drugs, but that is not always up to us to decide. J am not
sure what you are asking me to say when you ask that question, so
it is hard for me to answer.

Senator SpecTER. Well, if a parent knows that his child is on
drugs, that would be a danger signal to the potentiality of suicide.

Mrs. ScHERAGO. Yes.

Senator SPECTER. As a therapist, realizing that your own situa-
tion did not involve this, what advice would you Lave for a parent
whose child is on drugs, who may be concerned about the possibili-
ty of suicide?

Mrs. ScHeErAGO. Well, certainly one of the things would be to
check with the other resources that affect this child’s life, such as
the school system, maybe even friends, or if they are involved in
any types of activities in or out of school, to check and see how the
child’s performance really is, and that might give the parents a
better view of just how extensive the drug use is.

We get to the issue of up to 18 years of age, perhaps we could
have these children involuntarily committed into some type of pro-
tective environment, institution, or a hospital. What do we do after
they are 18, and they are adults? 1 could think of one family in
pai ‘icular who was at wits end, not knowing how to handle their
22-year-old son, and he ended up killing himself, and he was in-
volved with drugs, and the parents were totally helpless—in any
effect—to change the situation.

Senator Sekcrkr. How about the issue of sexual abuse? Do you
think that sexual abuse is a causative factor in teenage suicide?

Mrs. ScHERAGO. [ really do not know, from my own experience,
both personally or professionally. But I suspect that it probably
would be. Because { have put myself in kind of what 1 would per-
ceive to he that role of a child, and I myself would respond on the
level of saying this is not going to end my life, but that is me.

So it is an individual type of thing, but I could see where some-
thing like that would be devastating to a child. 1 do not think that
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would be the only factor, though. If it were, then I would imagine
that1 the suicide would occur shortly after the incident of the abuse
itself. :

Senator Specter. Thank you very much, Mr. and Mrs. Scherago.
Stay withk us, and perhaps there will be some interaction with testi-
mony of “Ms. Smith” and “Mrs. Smith.”

We have with us Julie Smith and her mother, Patricia Smith,
both of those names are not their own.

Julie, I understana that you have no objection to being photo-
graphed.

JULIE SMITH. No.

Senator SPECTER. I want to be sure, because if you do, we will
make that announcement. We cannot control that, because this is a
public hearing, and television must make its own judrim-nts, but
customarily they honor the request not to photograph, but it is all
right with you?

JULIE SMITH. Yes.

Senator SPEcTER. OK.

And, how about you, Mrs. Smith?

Mrs. SmiTH. Yes.

Senator SPECTER. It is acceptable to you, all right.

Julie and Mrs. Smith, we very much appreciate your being here.

Based on the information which has been given to me, you, Julie,
have attempted suicide in the past, and having been in that situa-
tion, can shed some special light on it.

Julie, I believe you have a prepared statement, so why do we not
begin with that?

STATEMENT OF JULIE SMITH

Jutie SmiTH. OK. I have attempted suicide three times. The first
attempt was in May 1981. It was merely & gesture, superficial cuts
on my wrists. But luckily I was taken seriously. I was hospitalized
fo. 6 weeks at Dominion Psychiatric Treatment Center.

After my discharge I still had self-destructive tendencies, but was
allowed to continue therapy on an outpatient basis.

The following year 1 became anorexic, and at 70 pounds, I
became a prolonged suicidal. I recovered through constant psycho-
therapy and familial support, a phenomenon unusual to the dis-
ease.

Tenth grade began, and 1 felt I could start anew. Ho' ‘ver, in De-
cember 1 again attempted suicide. I repeatedly slashed my wrists
over the course of a week. On Sunday, I cut my arms badly for the
last time and overdosed. This vas the first of a series of self-de-
structive acts that occurred during my 3-month hospitalization.

During an immediate period after my discharge I did very well,
and feeling more +stable than I had in a long time. However, 1
began to falter, and overdosed while at camp. Since then I have
been ;teadily progressing, and I am hoping to leave the Shelter for
Suicide,

The most confusing and important issue around suicide is why.
Many do not know. I believe it to be a result of a multitude of fac-
tors. The precipitating event could be anything, but in every case

depression and low self-esteem loom darkly.
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I believe my attempts to be focal around my childhood. I had a
great many physical problems, including a kidney anomaly, which
has recently become notorious as an instigator of emotional diffi-
culty. I grew up feeling different, or flawed. I was both sculpture
and statue, literally chipping away at myself. I stiove to uncover
the subtle yet so conseruential area interlayed in my very being.
My attempts were aimed at inner peace, even if that peace meant
death.

I have a friend, she was hospitalized with me, but left early due
to insurance. She was not only suicidal but had drug involvement,
and had come from an abusive family. She could not go home, so
now she is on the streets.

[ have been extremely lucky in that respect. The cost of therapy
has rot been weighty, but I come in hopes of aiding those who are
in less fortunate positions.

To those who are still struggling, I have come here to show that
not only is suicide a real issue, but so is recovery, for no one in
their healthy state really wants to die. The final act of suicide is a
true and terrible waste.

Thank you.

Senator SpecTeR. Thank you very much, Julie.

Ycu are 16 at the present time?

JuLlk SMiTH. Yes.

Senator SpecTER. And you made your first suicide attempt when
you were 13?

JULIE SMITH. Yes.

Senator SpecTer. Going back, although I know it is hard to do,
when, if you can recall, did you first think about suicide?

JuLie SMiTH. I never really thought about—well, 1 had always
been interested in the issue, and whenever there was a special on
TV I always watched it, but I never actually thought of myself in
terms of suicidal, until I was actually doing it.

Senator SpecTER. You never thought about suicide until you ac-
tually tried it?

JuLie SMiTH. Right Well, I mean I have seen about it, and I had
an interest in it, but I never thought of myself ac:ually doing that.
I never thought I would be able to do it.

Senator SpecTEr. Well, going back to what you say is the first
time you had seen about it, or did you see it on television?

JULIE SMITH. Yes.

Senator Specter. What did you see on television?

JUuLlE SMITH. Mostly I saw a person telling about their experi-
ence, and then thev would have the psychologist, or someone, ex-
plaining why.

Senator SprcTeR. You saw somebody on television that talked to
a psychologist, for example, about their committing suicide?

JULIE SMITH. Right. Attempting suicide.

Senator SiucTER. Attempting suicide, and what were your
thoughts when you saw that, if you can recall?

JuLie SMITH. | was interested.

Senator SpectER. You say interested. Did you ever think about
that as something tor yourself?

JuLiE SMITH. No, I do not think I did. But it seems like it is an
interesting subject. It is well publicized, and you just learn——
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Senator Spretkr. You had a curiosity about it?

JULIE SMITH. Yes.

Senator SpecTeR. Did the publicity help plant the idea in your
own mind for your own attempts for suicide?

Jutie SmiTH. No, I do not think so, no.

Senator Spkctkr. Do you think the publicity is helpful, or harm-
ful, in inducing people to commit suicide?

JuLie SmitH. I think it can be helpful in that it shows that there
are people that you can talk to if you are depressed and you need
someone to talk to. However, it is the same thing as crime and
things like that, it is all glamorized, and I think that is harmful.

Senator SpecTER. Do you think suicide is glamorized by televi-
sion?

JULIE SMITH. Yes.

Senator SPECTER. Why do you say that suicide is glamorized by
television?

JULIE SMITH. Because when they show it on the news, or scme-
thing like that, they always have all these people all bloody, and
everything, running around, and I think that is not what needs to
be shown.

Senator SpecTER. What do you think needs to be shown?

JuLie SMiTH. I think people need to show that there is—simply
that if you ure feeling that way, there is help. There is somebody
that you can talk to, rather than showing the actual incident itself,
like on the news, or something.

Senator SpecTeER. You think that the incident itself is not a good
subject matter for publicity?

JULIE SmiTH. No.

Senator SpecTER. And why do you think that?

JULIE SMITH. Because it is—oh, God.

Senator SprcTER. | know that is not an easy question, but it may
be hielpful to know your thoughts on it.

Junik SMitH. I just think that if people see that, and they feel
that thev—one problem people who are suicidal have is that they
want attention, and they see people in the act getting all this at-
tention, being on the news, and I am not saying that is why they
are going to do it, obviously not, but I think that is learning.

Senator SpecTER. So you think that suicide on television glamor-
izes, in the sense that it focuses attention to a person, that it says
to o potential suicide person, this is a way—excuse me?

Jurirr SMiTH. This is how I can get attention.

b S{gnator SeecTER. This is how you can get attention. So that is
ad!

Jurik SMiTH. Yes.

Senator SpecTER. And a desirable way to publicize is to do what?

JuLie Smith. To have crisis centers advertised a lot. If you are
feeling—so that an individual, if they are feeling depressed, can
turn on the TV and have an advertisement or something, talking
about a crisis center, somewhere that they can call, somewhere
that they can write, anything like that, that is different, in my
opinion, than having the actual incident.

Senator SprcTER. How old were you when you first saw these tel-
evision programs, or first saw publicity about suicide, as best you
can recollect?
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JULIE SMiTH. Probably around 11. Around 11.

Senator SpEcTER. And how frequently did you see programs on
suicide, how frequently did this subject come to your attention in
some publicized way?

JULIE SMITH. Mostly on police shows, or things like that, which I
really do not think are a good place for them.

Senator SPECTER. So they are just dramas, docu-dramas?

JULIE SMITH. Yes, not offering any solution.

Senator SpeCTER. Now, going back to May 1981, where you testi-
fied that you slashed your wrists, as closely as you can recollect,
what happened to you on that occasion? What were you thinking
about? What was the compelling factor that led you to do that?

JuLle SmirH. I think I was feeling for a long while I had been
isclating myself.

Senator SPeCTER. Isolating yourself?

JuLIE SMITH. Yes. That is one of the main things with suicides,
you always isolate yourself, and when you do that it just increases
your depression. I was very depressed at the time, and I think it
was more of an impulse.

Senator SpecTER. You had not thought about it for a long period
of time, it was an impulse?

JuLIE SMmitH. Right.

Senator SpEcTER. And what did you do, exactly?

JULIE SMITH. I cut my wrist with a knife, but it was—it was not
anything severe, it was superficial.

Senator SPecTER. Very superficial?

JULIE SMITH. Yes.

Senator SpecTer. Were you really trying to kill yoursel{?

JULIE SMITH. Not at that timne, no.

Senator SpecToRr. You think you were not?

JuLie SmitH. No.

Senator SrecTER. Do you think you wer: trying to attract atten-
tion?

JULIE SMITH. Perhaps.

Senator SpecTER. Mrs. Smith, let me ask you at this juncture,
what was your response to Julie's efforts to suicide, when she was
13?

STATEMENT OF PATRICIA SMITH

Mrs. SmiTH. To the actual?

Senator SrkcTeR. Yes.

Mrs. SmitH. When 1 first discovered the slashed wrists at that
point in time?

Senator SrrcTER. Yes. Well, at the time that she made the at-
ternpt at suicide, which she has described, by attempting to cut her
wrists, what was your reaction? What did you do?

Mrs. Smrri. Susan had been prograssively isolating herself, as
she said, ve had just moved to the Washington area, and 1 think I
can ac'd at this point that the move was a major change, from my
experience——

Senator SprcTER. Where had you moved from, a long distance?

- -y
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Mrs. SmiTH. From Massachusetts. And Susan had mentioned ear-
lier, a lot of physical ailments, and they had just put her body
brace, and she was experiencing another——

Sernator SpEcTER. What kind of physical ailments?

Mrs. SMITH. At this point she had developed scoliosos, and they
were using a brace to prevent surgery, so we arrived with Susan in
a very depressed state.

Senator SpecTeR. And how long after you arrived in the Wash-
ington area did——

Mrs. SmiTH. That would have been——

Senator SPECTER [continuing]. Did Julie try suicide?

Mrs. SMiTH. Was ¢hat a year later? Yes, I think it would have
been a year later, and during that period of time she just continued
to get more and more isolated.

We felt very concerned about it. The interesting thing is we went
to the school and talked to the school officials, and they feli that
we were making something out of nothing, that they saw nothing
wrong with Susan.

Senator SprcrER. You saw some signs which actually led you to
go and talk to the school officials?

Mrs. SmitH. Right. We felt that this isolation could not be good
for her, and we wondered how she was doing in school.

Senator SPECTER. When you say isolation, she had no friends?

Mrs. SmiTH. She had no friends, that is right, she had refused to,
after moving, to move out and meet kids in the neighborhood, the
body brace created real feelings for her, so in talking to schools,
the teachers, they thought that Susan was doing just fine, that at
school she acted perfectly normal, and that she had friends at
school. We did not agree with that, and decided to pursue the issue,
by perhaps having some therapy.

We were not quite sure, certain things that you were talking
about, whether this was a good idea, whether we were going to pre-
cipitate something.

Senator SpecTeR. Did Julie have therapy before the suicide at-
tempt?

Mrs. SMITH. No. So we.decided to go easy, and just saw a nurse
therapist, rather than actually see a psychiatrist

Senator SPECTER. Did she see a nurse therapist before the suicide
attempt?

Mrs. SMiTH. One time. This is when we told Susan that we were
very concerned about her isolation, and that we felt that it would
benefit all of us, if she talked with somebody, because at this point
Susan was being very angry toward us, too, and we did not feel
that we could talk well with her, and so we did take her to a nurse
therapist.

Senator SpecTER. You felt that you could not communicate effec-
tively with her at that time?

Mrs. SMitH. Right, at this point the breakdown of cominunica-
tion was very great.

Senator SPECTER. And you say you felt she was angry with you?

Mrs. SMitH. Right, I think she was angry at everything and ev-
eryone. There was just hostility coming from Susan, so we did take
her to the therapist, and I believe that precipitated the—her sui-
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ci_tli]e attempt that night way the night that she went home and took
pills.

Senator SpecTER. So you think that the first visit to the nurse
therapist pr-cipitated the suicide effort?

Mrs. SmMr v When [ say precipitatec obviously Susan was at
that point where she was really suicidal and 1 think—this is my
interpretation, was that I think there was an element of Susan
being afraid that she was becoming mentally ill, or that something
was happening to her, and when we confronted her with the thera-
pist, I think that kind of scared her, and that night—well, the in-
teresting thing was I read her diary the next day, because I was so
frightened by her reaction, when we got home, t%e hostility had in-
creased tenfold, and so much so that the next morning I read her
diary, which I had never done before, and in it she had said that
she had taken some pills, because life was not worth living kind of
thing, and had gone to school, and I called the school to see if she
was still all right, and they said yes, she is in class, and I called the
nurse therapist back, and she recommended immediate hospitaliza-
tion at Dominion Institute.

[ went there, and I must admit I was so shaken by locked doors,
and I could not imagine that my daughter’s problem was so great
that it would require this kind of hospitalization. And we insisted
on a visit with the psychiatrist who runs Dominion, and he agreed
to Susan trying to work on an outpatient basis, and he made a bar-
gain with her that if she would not make any suicidal attempts
over the weekend he would talk with her again on Monday, and 1
guess about midnight on Sunday night, Susan slashed her wrists
the first time, and at that point we hospitalized her instantly. We
did not wait for the morning.

" Senator SpecTErR. Was that the second attempted suicide, or the
irst?

Mrs. SmiTH. Right, Susan had forgotten the pills, was the first,
really, but she had not taken enough to be a serious suicide.

Senator SpecTeR. She took the pills, and then you had the experi-
ence that you have described, and then she made an effort at slash-
irg her wrists?

Mrs. SmitH. All this happened in one weekend, and then that
Sunday night she slashed her wrists. But again, this is where
Susan was saying they were superficial, and did not even require
Band-Aids, or anything. But we admitted her in the middle of the
night to Dominion.

Senator Spectkr. Susan, | will begin to call you Susan, since your
mother has. Your name is not Julie, but Susan. Having used
Susan, so we will use Susan. It is apparent whom we are talking
about now.

What led to the second attempted suicide, Susan?

JuLIE SMITH. | think it was—I have to think about that. I began
to go into the same cycle that [ had before.

Senator Serctkr. How long after the first suicide attempt was
the second one?

Jurie SmiTH. The first suicide attempt was in the &th grade, and
my second one was in the 10th grade.

Senator SpecTER. In the 10th grade? Apout 2 years later?

JULIE SMITH. Right.
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Senator St xcrER. What was the precipitating factor of the second
suicide?

JULIE SMITH. As I said, I saw myself going in the same cycle, and
I felt myself shipping.

Senator SpecTiR. Did you have friends at that time?

JuLik SmitTH. Yes, I had friends, but——

Senator SPECTER. So you were not isolated?

JUuLiE SMiTH. Well, I began to isolate myself again, and I felt
myself going through the same cycle. I felt myself siipping, I can
look back into my journals and see myself writing that.

Senator SPECTER. You kept a diary?

JULIE SMITH. Yes, pretty much.

Senator SpecTER. You are a very introspective person, you write
down what you feel, and what you do?

Jurie SmitH. [Nodding.]

Senator SpecTER. How did you attempt suicide on the second oc-
casion?

JuLie SMiTH. The second time it spanned over a week. My
mother went away for a week, and on the first day I cut my wrist,
and each day after that I kept reopening them, and incrasing
them, until the last day, when I finally cut my wrist and over-
dosed, the same time, and 1 was taken to the hospital.

Senator SrecTER. Taken to the hospital on the final effort at cut-
ting your wrists, you inflicted severe wounds on yourself?

Jurik SMiTH. Fairly bad.

Senator SpECTER. Did you come close to dying?

JULIE SMITH. No, it was more the overdose that was the problem,
than the wrists.

Senatcr SrECTER. You took pills on the second occasion?

JULIE SMITH. Right. I did them simultaneously.

Senator SPECTER. You cut your wrist and took pills?

JULIE SMITH. Right.

Senator SpecteR. And how about the third occasion, when you
attempted suicide?

JULIE SMITH. Actually, I listed as my anorexia as a suicide. It
was a prolonged suicide. During my hospitalization 1 had several
semiattempts, which I do not really go into. That was what I listed
as my third attempt.

Senator SpecTer. Do you think that you are over the suicide
vroblem at the present time, as best you can tell, Susan?

Jurie SMmrri. I think [ am getting there.

Senator SpecTER. You think you are?

JULIE SMITH. Yes.

Senator SpectER. If you had to give advice to other teenage girls
in the United States about the problem cf suicide, how to avoid it,
how to approach it, what advice would you give?

Jurie SMITH. I think they need to be able to trust people, to talk,
to confide in peop:e about their feelings. I think they need therapy.
Therapy is definitely a major thing, and familial support is impor-
tant.

Senator SprcTir. If you were to give advice to other teenage girls
who were in the same situation that you were, what is the critical
point, would vou say, at what point is really the most dangerous
that they have to seek some sort of outside help?
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Jurik SMrrh. | think sny time you are feeling suicidal you should
seek outside help. The problem with suicide is everyone Lecomes
introverted, and they do not rely on anybody else to help them
with their problems, and ~hen you keep things inside, at least in
my case, they become very fast and inculpable, and when you
speak about them they sort of shrink inside, and you have to deal
with them.

Senator SPECTER. So you would say the critical factor is when a
reenage woman is thinking about suicide, to tell somebody about it,
share her thoughts and feelings?

JuLIE SMiTH. Right.

Senator SpPECTER. Susan, you are in a therapy group, as I under-
stand it, wit.1 other youngsters?

JULIE SmiTH. I was, when I was in the hospital.

Senator SPECTER. You were when you were in the hospital?

JULIE SMITH. Yes.

Senator SpEcTER. What did you learn from them, if anything,
that would be helpful to other teenagers, to understand their own
problems on suic.de?

JULIE SMiTH. A therapy group helps develop trust in other
people, it also shuws you that you: problems are not—that some
other pecple may have the saine feelings that you are having, may
have the same perspective on things, and you do not feel quite so
alone in your depression.

Senator SPECTER. So if you know that other people are experienc-
ing similar problems, it is of assistance to you?

JULIE SMITH. It helps, yes.

Senator SpecTER. Well, thank you very much, Susan.

If you had one last piece of advice to give to teenagers who may
be seeing your face and hearing your voice, about how to prevent
suicide for themselver, what would you say?

JULIE SMITH. | wou:d say that they reafiy—-it really is not worth
it, that things will get better, no matter how bad things mnay seem,
they will get better, and they need to hold on, and they can, it is
easier to do that with the help of other people, with the help of
professionals, but just to hold on.

Senator SpecTErR. And, Mrs. Smith, based upon the experience
that you had with your daughter, who has attempted suicide, what
advice would you give to parents, to try to prevent suicide?

Mrs. SmitH. Well, 1 think that today in our society that parents
sometimes are a little bit afraid of their kids, and a little bit afraid
to really step in and appear more of an authority figure, that there
is a tendency to kind of want kids to experience things, and you
sort of step back and play a less active role, kind of a supportive
role, and that is good, but i think that a lot of children are asking
ford more involvemen. in their lives, more actually stepping in,
and——

Senator SrEcreEr. More parental involvement in the lives of the
children?

Mrs. SmitH. Right, and more control over their lives, that in
fact——

Senator SprcTerR. More control that the children would like to
have the parents exert more contrel over the children?
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Mrs. Smin. That is right. In fact, they do not really resent
having parents step in, und I think one of the things I have learned
from this experience is to step in more, and to take things into
your hands, as I said, confront them, you know, are you feeling sui-
cidal, in our case now, we have a very open dialog about it, but I
can see in the case of other families who have not experienced
something like we have, where it would be beneficial to confrent
children with specific problems, and not be afraid to do that, and
really, for example, Susan talked to me a long time before, she may
not even remember it, before her first suicide attempt, but she
always talked about it as other children, and I was lulled in that.

Senator SpecTER. She had talked to you about suicide?

Mrs. SMiTH. About suicide, but it was sort of in, my friend is
thinking of doing this kind of a thing, and my friend has a thing
who has done this sort of thing.

Senator SrecTER. When Susan talked to you about suicide, as you
described it, what did you say to her?

Mrs. SmitH. Well, I would be very concerned and would talk
about it, but it was always about a friend, and would sort of imply
that perhaps, you know, does the teacher know, does the parent
know that the child is experiencing these kinds of feelings, and
looking back on it, I had no idea that what she was really telling
me was that this is what she was feeling, and we were having these
discussions about, you know, someone else, some nonexistent
person, and so I am sure, I do not recall hcw I responded in terms
of everything I said, only merely I hope she gets help. That kind of
thing, rather than saying, hey, are you trying to tell me something.

You know, and perhaps we should talk about your feelings about
this subject. So I guess if I had to give one piece of advice, as you
said listen, observe, but get involved, and not be afraid.

I mean, sometimes you may make mistakes and step on their
toes, and they are going to get angry and say, hey, you are too in-
volved in my life, but I think overall they appreciate that, and they
feel that there is some control here, that they may not feel other-
wise.

Senator SpECTER. Susan, one final question.

From your group therapy, I know this does not apply to your
own case, but from the group that you worked with, do you have
any sense as to whether sexual abuse or drugs were a cause of sui-
cide for teenagers?

JuLik SMITH. A great many of the people in the hospital have
had experience with drugs or sexual abuse.

Senator SPECTER. A great many of the youngsters you associated
with had backgrounds in drugs as a causative factor leading them
to suicide, or attempted suicide?

X Jurik Smrri. Well, 1 would not say that it is the cause of suicide,
ut——

Senator SPECTER. A contributing factor?

JuLig SMiTH. But 1t only served to really shake I\;our self image,
self esteem, and that is going to lead to suicidal problems.

Senator SpkcTer. How about the question of sexual abuse? Have
you seen frora your experience with others who have attempted
suicide, that that is a factor?

Jurie SMmitH. I think so, yes.
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Senator Seecrer. Thank you very much, Mr. and Mrs. Scherago,
and thank you very much, Mrs. Smith and Susan. | appreciate
your being here.

I would like now to call District Attorney Ownby and Dr. Alan
Berman and Ms. Myra Herbert.

District Attorney Ownby, we would like to berin with your testi-
mony and your experience,

I understand that you are the district attorney for Collin County,
TX, the county where Plano is located, and have had experience
with some nine suicide victims in Plano, your office has been in-
volved in the investigation in that matter.

We appreciate your coming, and we will begin with your state-
ment.

STATEMENTS OF A PANEIL, CONSISTING OF H. OWNRBY, CRIMINAL
DISTRICT ATTORNEY, COLLIN COUNTY COURTHOUSE, McKIN-
NEY, TX; DR. ALAN L. BERMAN, PH.D., PROFESSOR OF PSY-
CHOLOGY, THE AMERICAN UNIVERSITY, AND PRESIDENT OF
THE AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF SUICIDOLOGY, ON BEHALF
OF THE AMERICAN PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION, WASHING-
TON, DC; AND MYRA R. HERBERT, M.S.W., COORDINATOR,
SCHOOL SOCIAL WORK SERVICES, FAIRFAX COUNTY PUBLIC
SCHOOLS, FAIRFAX, VA

Mr. OwnBy Thank you, Senator Specter, and we appreciate your
taking the time, and your committee working on this subject, be-
cause this is obviously of a great deal of concern to us.

Unfortunately, I must report to you that at this time we have
now experienced 11 deaths by suicide, of individuals aged 20 or
under, in the last 2 years.

I would like to start by telling you a little bit about Collin
County. It is about 1,000 square miles, immediately north of the
city of Dallas, and the major city is Plano, with a little over 100,000
people.

Senator SpkcTeR. How far north of Dallas is it?

Mr. Ownsy. Well, it is the county immediately to the north.
Plano sits approximately 20 miles north of downtown Dallas. The
city of Dallas nuw considers——

Senator SeecreR. Practicaliy a suburb, then?

Mr. Ownsy. It is a suburb. There is no break in the residential
area. Most of the people who live in our community work in the
Dallas area, they commute in. It is a very mobile society, upper
middle class, very expensive homes, most of them are $150,000 or
more. Median income in our community, in Plano, is about 50 per-
cent above the national average. An awful lot of people move in,
and then move out, because they belong to major corporations.

As I said, we have experienced about 11 suicides, people aged 20
or under, in the last 2 years. Specifically in the last 20 months. We
have also experienced a great number of attempts.

Now, unfortunately, because of the short time that I had been
noticed to get here, I did not get perfect statistics. In that same
time period, Plano General Hospital, which is the primary health
care unit in Plano, has reported to us about 95 suicide attempts.
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That is the whole age spectrum. 1 do not know how many of those
break out to be teenage.

I do know that in our mental health court, which has just been
in existenc2 in the last vear and a half, since January 1983, we
have had 13 involved, in 1983, and 11 in 1984, attempters, who
have been committed to some kind of mental health facility.

According to statistics modeling, our county, by population,
should experience approximately three per year. We are obviously
well over that.

Senator SPECTER. Three suicide attempts?

Mr. OwnBY. Three suicide attempts in the ages 20 and under—
no, three suicides.

Senator SpecTeR. Three suicides?

Mr. Ownsy. How many statistically we should model out. At-
tempts, | cannot say.

Senator Specter. Is the figure 95 suicide attempts high, as you
sense it?

Mr. Ownsy It appears to compare favorably with prior years.
But again, that is 95 throughout the entire spectrum.

Senator Spkcier. What is it about Plano, TX, which leads people
to suicide, or attempted suicide?

Mr. OwNay. | do not know. I am not going to sit here and try to
draw conclusions that 1 cannot back up. I have looked at a lot of
the factors that we knew about, or we thought about, or that your
comnittee has suggested to me. I do not find yet that single strain
that will tell us what the answer is.

We looked at juvenile system involvement. Have they been in
trouble before. We only found one individual who had any prior
contact with the juvenile justice system.

We looked to sexual abuse. It is very difficult. The primary wit-
ness in a sexual abuse case is the one who is now deceased. So we
do not re.lly know. We do know that we see a low incidence of
sexual abuse reported by those people who are suicide attempters,
they are saved and put into the mental health.

Senator SprcTeER. Have any of the 11 suicides been a person who
had reported sexual abuse?

Mr. OwnBy. None.

And in substance abuse we have got some evidence that every
one of these individuals began some involvement with either alco-
hol or drugs, in some minor scale, but out of the 11, I have got 7
autopsies available, of those, only 1 shows any alcohol or drug
during a screening at the autopsy, and that one was substantial al-
cohol intoxication, it was 0.20, which I am sure you know what
that n]1reans, and he also had a substantial amount of Diazamine in
himself.

We checked into status crimes, that is what are referred to in
Texas as juvenile delinquency, and that sort of thing. Runaways,
we found none, no reports. And the policing agencies on the indi-
viduals who did in fact commit suicide. We tried to determine if
there was any more graphic involvement, and we could not find
any evidence of that.

thave not been able to look into the behavioral or family prob-
lems involved with these. 1 know a little bit, by rumor and by con-
jecture, and by some personal involvement with a few of the
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people, but not enough that 1 could draw any kind of conciusions
for you.

1 will tell you, Mr. Gorman, who is with the Centers for Disease
(. ntrol, has been in Plano last March doing statistical gathering,
he is coming back this month to do some indepth interviews with
families and friends of suicide victims, and he is going to be dealing
with that kind of approach, what kind of traits are there in the
families that we can look at.

One thing that I can tell you by looking at the suicide attempts
that we dealt with in our mental health system, divorce is a factor,
and adoption seems to be a factor.

They asked me to see what kind of police or other investigations
were accomplishing. The police only investigate so far as to deter-
mine the cause of death, that it was suicide.

Senator SpectER. How do you, as district attorney, get involved
in a suicide? A suicide attempt is not a crime, or is it a crime in
Texas?

Mr. Ownay. No, it is not a crime in Texas. The only way that 1
get involved ai this point is because the autopsies are reported to
me, and, of course, the deaths are reported to me, the police report
comes tc my desk.

Senator SprcTER. | know that a lot goes to the district attorney
that has no place else to go, but technically, there is nv crime in-
volved?

Mr. Ownsy. No.

Senator SpecTerR. Mr. Ownby, did these 11 suicide victims know
each other? Was there 4 strain of commonality? Did they know
each other?

Mr. OwnsBy. Apparently a couple of them may have had some
contact. There were none of them——

Senator SpEcTeErR. May have had. There is no evidence that any of
the others?

Mr. OwnNgy. Not that I can testify to. When Mr. Gorman comes
in and does his study of the family we may find a greater cross re-
lationship was there.

Many of them attended separate schools, and had no reason to be
cross contacting.

Senator SercTER. Do you have any s2nse that there was a chain
reaction that after a number of suicides that occurred in your
small community, that it gave the idea to others?

Mr. Ownsy. That is a definite possibility. I was asked to deter-
mine what is the role of the press, and I talked to the reporters of
all the major newspapers.

The first suicide that occurred, there was a fairly decent reason
for that one to occur.

Senator SekcTrR. What was the reason?

Mr. Owngy. OK. There was a drag race involving three young
men. Two boys driving the cars, ons was the flagman. One of the
boys tost control of the car and struck and killed the flagman. The
other boy who was in the drag race but net involved with the strik-
ing was a good friend of the flagman, and it was several days later
that he decided to take his life because he felt guilty, he felt at
fault. They tended to domino after that. That one iucident was re-
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ported widely, and it was repor! 1 on the front page of the local
papers.

The newspapers assured me that after that they had tried to
play it down, until we had a Romeo and Juliet suicide several
months lxcer. That one again was on the front page, and after that
one we had several quick suicides.

Senator SPECTER. A double svicide?

Mr. OwnBy. Yes, sir.

Senator SPECTER. And what were the factors there?

Mr. Ownsy. They apparently wanted to be together in some sign
of marital relationship, and their parents were denying them. They
were saying they were too young.

Senator SPECTER. How old were they?

Mr. Ownny. They were 17.

Senator SpecTer. How about television coverage?

Mr. Ownsy. Television coverage was rapid and pervasive. There
is a school three blocks from my home, and a young man there
committed suicide last year. When he did, the minicams were all
over the place, interviewing every student who had caid they had
seen or talked to this kid

It is strange to note that recently a television anchor woman in
our city of Dallas committed suicide, and had received very scant
coverage.

Senator SpecTer. How much coverage do suicides get generally
in the Dallas area?

Mr. Ownsy. The Dallas area, very little.

Senator SPECTER. Big city?

Mr. Ownsy. Big city.

Senator SPECTER. Not an uncommon occurrence?

Mr. OwnByY. No, about a million people.

Senator SPECTER. But 11 are?

Mr. Ownsy. Plano is. There is some relationship between the
first suicide and the arrival on the scene of some reporters from
Newsweek to do a story about Plano. They were coming anyway,
a1d they were there when it happened. I think that may have
something to do with the extreme breadth of news coverage.

Senator Specter. What is your sense as to why the Newsweczk
story had anything to do with the suicide?

Mr. OwnBy. I do not know that they had anything to do with the
suicide. I do know that that had something to do with the amount
of coverage.

Senator SprcTer. I see. So you are talking about the Newsweek
story having a relationship to the coverage, as opposed to the inci-
dents?

Mr. Ownsy. Right. Newsweek is normally not in Plano.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Ownby follows:]
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PREPARED STATEMENT ofF H. OwnBy

Thank you for this opportunity to address the Subcommittee on
Juvenile Justice. The tragedy of juvenile (or teenage) suicide
is foremost in the mind of our community at this time, and we are
comforted to know that not only this body, but other organiza-
tions with expertise in this subject have come forward to help
us solve this problem.

In the last two centuries our nation has worked hard to
remove hunger and disease as the leading causes of loss of young
lives, and our community believes that suicide i{s one more
affliction that can be removed as a threat to our children, The
primary weapons in our battle are dedication, open minds, courage
to face the truth, and love. .

In regponse to the committee's request I have contacted
various agencies, service providers, and leaders of our community
for their information, contributions, and insights. My staff and
1 have also conducted independent research, Time, always the
enemy bf decision makers, was regrettably shcct, but the infor-
mation supplied should be as accurate and complete as is humanly

possible.

COMMUNITY BACKGROUND

Collin County is a predominately rural county, population
approximately 180,000, 900 square miles in size, located imme-
diately to the north of Dallas. The . unty seat is McKinney,
approximately 20,000 population. The largest city is Plano,
population approximately 120,000, with a median household income
in excess of $40,000, which was a small farming community of less
than 5000 population until the late 1960's. Residential growth
in Dallas has caused Plano to develop as a true metropolitan
suburb. Although predominately a "bedroom community", internal
business and industrial growth are currently changing Plano and
Collin County into a more self.contained community. Population
estimites range up to one million by the end of the century.
Each city within the county maintains an independent government,

including police and school systems.
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SUICIDES:

Collin County, Texas, has experienced a significant ciange
in the pattern of juvenile suicides (age 20 and under) during the
last two years. A ten year calendar s'iowing ages and occurerce
is attached. It 18 evident that juvenile sulcide was rare before
1983, Population growth, by itself, will not account for this
sudden change, since the most significant changes in population
occurred in the 1970's.

A full and complete understanding of why these young people

took their lives is not yet available. It may never be fully

understood. However, Ms. Carole Steele, Executive Director of

the Plano Crisis Center undertook a detailed analysis which she
reported to the American Association of Suicidology's 1984

Confe_ence. A copy of her report is attached.
INVOLVEMENT IN JUSTICE SYSTEM:

Police and Courts:

Only one individual had any reported contact with policing
_athorities. The record showed a felony offense two years prior
to death (refused by District Attorney for insufficient evidence)

and a misdemeanor one year prior to death.
SEXUAL ABUSE: None reported.

SUBSTANCE ABUSE: Almost all of the subjects had begun involve-
ment with drugs or alcohol. A significant number were involved

with either drugs or alcohol, or both, at the time of death.
RUNNING AWAY FROM HOME: Nou information available.
EXPOSURE TO PORNOGRAPHY: N» information available.

BEMAVIORAL, OR FAMILY PROBLEMS: WNo official investigation was
made of these areas. Through unofficial investigation, Ms.
Steele detalls in her report several factor conclusions which

relate to these areas.
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INVESTIGATION:
Police: Local policing authorities only investigate suicides from
the standpoint of determining criminal activity and securing evi-

dence to determine cause of death.

Justice of the Peace: By Texas law, ceaths occurring outside of
medical supervision are referred to a Justice of the Peace for
determination of cause of death. The JP can, and often does,
hold an inquest and seek more information than just the medical
cause, but this information is not uniform in its reporting.
COMMUNITY RESPONCE - PR.LVENTION:

Plano and Collin County have made significant moves in the
last e (2) years to combat this problem. In addition to Ms.
Steele's rerport, I have attached detailed information provided by
Dr. Glenn Weimer, psychologist and Director of the Plano Crisis
Center, and Mr. Mike Cavender, Administrator of the Plano

Involvement Program with the Plano School District.

Here i8 an nverview of the systems available now:
1. Plano Crisis Centert 24 hour hot line provides crisis

intervention and referral by professionally trained volunteers.

2. Collin County Mental Health Department: Trained Deputy
Sheriffs can respond county wide to both law enforcement agency
and citizen reported problems. System can provide intervention,
temporary committment for safety, and immediate psychiatric
involvement.

3. Neighborhood Youth Services: A diversion project of the
Plano Police Department, juvenile nffenders can be placed in »
counseling situation, rather than incarceration and formal court

action, if warranted.

4. Plano School District:v Numerous projects aimed at
involving the parents and the community in problems of children,
before the problem reaches the police stage. This includes a
District wide Parent Involvement Program (too many children had
no real communication with their parents; many parents refused to
bellieve their child was involved with drugs of alcohol), and
Students Working All Together (SWAT) and Students Thinking Of

Peers (8TOP) which involve students taking the initiative to
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defeat lonelinesn (being left out of the group) and peer pressure
involving drug, alcohol, or other improper activites.

Individual informat‘on sharing, or clearinghouse, activities

have started in several schocls in the past year. The details

are beat left to the attached materials.

ROLE OF THE PRESS:
The Plano Daily Star Courier provides primary coverage of
c¢vents in Plano, although the two major Dallas papers do cover

Plano activities and have wide circulation in Plano.

Because Of the nature of the first suicide, it was covered
on page one of the Plano paper. Likewise, the double suicide
received page one treatment. All others were reported on page

three as a four or five oparagraph "police report™ only.
9 4

In fairness I asked reporters from several papers for thelr
comments on this subject. Some felt it was only a question of
the public's right to know; but one reporter pointed out that,
while the news reports may trigger further suicide activity, they
may also warn parents of suicidal children of the danger signs
and may save lives.

CONCLUSION

Thore are no answers, yet. There are many people working
very hard to fight an enemy we do not understand. The Center for
Disease Control has visited Collin County to gather information,
and will return later this year. There are children, and adults,
solving problems that would possibly have gone unsolved before.
Local agencies and authorities are communicating better than
before on juvenile matters.

The only conclusion 1 have drawn from my very short research
of the problem is the need for sharing of information. The
exchange of background information on children by the schools,
police, medical, and religious community is vital to the inter~
ception of problem children before they *golve® their problem.
And the sharing f hard-won answers to common Jjuvenile problems
is vital to intercepting situations before they become problems

for a child. The clearinghouse approach may be the next logical
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Senator SpecTER. Well, we shall be interested to see what the fol-
lowup studies show, Mr. District Attorney. It is a very unique situ-
ation, and I think there is something to be learned from that.

Let us turn to Dr. Alan Berman now.

Dr. Berman, as I understand it, you are the president of the
American Association of Suicidology?

Dr. BErMAN. That is correct.

»enator SPECTER. Would you begin by telling us a little bit about
the Association of Suicidology, when 1t was formed, the member-
ship content?

STATEMENT OF ALAN L. BERMAN

Dr. BERMAN. The American Association of Suicidology was found-
ed in 1967 by Dr. Edwin Shneidman in Los Angeles, who, when
he started working with suicidal individuals in Los Angeles County,
found that there was painfully little research available to study
and understand suicidal phenomena.

Since then we have grown slowly. We have about 700 members,
mostly mental health professionals, several surviving parents, and
lay people interested in the subject. Primarily, our interest is in
understanding the problem of suicide, and hopefully proposing
models to deal with it.

Senator SpecTER. What is your own educational background—
you are a Ph.D. in clinical psychology?

Dr. BERMAN. Yes.

Senator SPECTER. And how long have you been practicing psy-
chologg?

Dr. BErRMAN. Fifteen years.
Senator SPECTER. And you are a professor in the Department of
Psychology at American 6niversity?

r. BERMAN. That is correct.

Senator SpEcTER. Well, we thank you for being here, and look
forward to your testimony.

Dr. BERMAN. Thank you. If I can briefly summarize my written
comments.

First, I do want to thank you for inviting me here to speak. I am
here to represent the American Psychological Association as well
as the American Association of Suicidology, and, perhaps, if I can
extend that, to represent more than 5,000 suicidal adolescents from
last year; that is, 5,000 adolescents who cannot be here to testify,
because they are tragically and prematurely dead.

Senator SpeCTER. 5,000 adolescents last year?

Dr. BERMAN. Over 5,000 last year, and that is what we know of.
Obviously, that underestimates those deaths that are otherwise cer-
tified, or those whose suicides may have been denied awareness to
a medical examiner or coroner.

In recent years, Senator, th- rate of suicide deaths of teenagers
have shown a marked and dramatic increase, roughly an increase
of threefold, in the last 20 to 25 years.

Concurrently, the United States has shown dramatic increases in
the rate of divorce, and the numbers of children involved in those
divorces; and in the rate of illegitimate births to adolescent girls,
rate of juvenile court appearances for adolescents. As well, rates of
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other violent deaths, for example homicide rates, have gone up dra-
matically.

While these are correlated, in no way are they explanatory. Sui-
cide is an intensely personal event. It is complex, and it is multi-
determined. For some it is an impulsive behavior, for others it is a
career. There is no one motive, there is no one type, there is no one
suicide that I can tell you about.

Perhaps 1 can assume all motives under two primary themes.
One is that of influencing others, to communicate a statement that
otherwise cannot be expressed. Second, to escape some intolerable
situation, some conflict; some attempt to get out when other ways
cannot be accomplished.

The great majority of adolescent suicides that we know of appar-
ently do not, or did not, want to die; but, perhaps, did not know of
any other ways to deal with their problems. These suicidal individ-
uals appear to share a common pathway with other forms of escape
and indirect communication: runaways, drug abusers, alcohol
users, and delinqueats. 1 guess they share an underlay of despair,
of rage, of Lelplessness, and of depression.

To date our research does indicate that there are a number of
factors that we can point to that show an adolescent at risk for sui-
cide. There is painfully little research. We are desperate in terms
of asking for funds so we can upgrade what we know. But we do
know some things, and one o the values of this meeting today is
that we can perhaps isolate and publicize what we have learned
over the years.

Clearly, adolescents give messages on their way toward death.
We know that roughly 80 percent will communicate in one form or
another that suicide is on their mind, and that it is a possibility.

Studies of suicidal adolescents, both attempters and completers,
have found typically that—again, this is a generalization—that
there is a higf: level of conflict in the family, there are cftentimes
threats of, and actual, separation and divorce. Parents have been
shown to be more depressed than parents of nonsuicidal children.

Studies have found higher rates of alcoholism, higher rates of
drug abuse among the parents, and, as well, more suicidal models
in the parenting system that may, perhaps, give the potentially sui-
cidal adolescent some permission for using this behavior as a way
of solving problems.

Children in families such as these tend to feel expendable, if not
sometimes responsible for problems going on in the family. The
parents may or may not be in a position to notice. These adoles-
cents do show behavioral changes at school; they also show behav-
ioral changes with peers.

We have been able to note increased rates of depression, that is,
diagnosable, clinical depression; signs of withdrawal, as well as
signs of greater aggressivity and hostility, more disruptive behav-
ior. They do appear to be more sensitive, more easily hurt, and less
able to reach out to support systems that may or may not be avail-
able.

There are things that can be done. The clues are given clearly. If
we can assess better, if we notice more, perhaps we can channel
them into helpful systems. We do know that those adolescents that
make it into individual therapy, group therapy, or to the family
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therapy, have been helped. They can be taught; they can be given.
training in groblem-solving skills.

We do know of school-based programs that have been tried, that
seem to be successful in teaching adolescents not only about their
own depression, but about how to respond to peers, in teaching
teachers how to notice, and again, funnel children into helpful re-
courses.

As you mentioned in your opening statement, there are two
States that are currently providing moneys to support demonstra-
tion projects to develcn preventative programs in the schools. At
present, there basically is no Federal money to support either re-
search or programmatic initiatives. That is one of the reasons I
would like something to come of this, and I hope that we can get to
that.

Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Dr. Berman follows:]
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF ALAN L. BERMAN

Mr. Chairman end Mambers of the Subcommfttss on Juvenils Justics, it is
indeed sn honor to be invited hers todsy to tsstify on behslf of ths American
Peychologicel Assocfeticn on the subjsct of tesnage suicide. 1 em plesssd
that the Subcommittes has directed its sttention to this ssrious national
problem end would 1ike to teke this opportunity to commend your outstending
lesdership in efforts to ..f..ufrd the welfsrs of our nation's youth.

1 am Dr. Alen Berman, Ptofcqcor of Paychology st The Americen University
end President of the Americen Associstion of Suicidology. My profsseional
sxpertiss in the sres of teenags suicide is derived from counssling suicidel
sdolescents end their fem{lise, conducting resesrch projects snd workshops,
and tessching university courses on the subject.

In ay testimony, I vil. pressnt the psychologicel knowledgs regerding
thres major sress of concern: (1) the charsctsristice of the st-risk
sdolescant, {ncluding contects with the juvenils justice system; (2) the
clustering phenomenon whersin ons suicide triggers a resh of suicides in e
clossd community ss wes recantly rsportsd in Westchester County, New York and
Pleno, Texas; end (3) wveys to help tesnagers through the crisss of sdolsscence
snd thersby deter them from scte of sslf destruction.

Nov more than sver befors, fesiliss, communitiss end the nation as s whols
sre facing the tregedy of tesnage suicide end asking “why?" The sccelerstion
in empiricel resssrch in the srss of tesnags guicide in the lest ssversl yssrs
followe clossly end persllels reporte of dramatic {ncressss i{n the incidence
of thess desths (Berman & Tennsy, 1984). Unfortunatsly, thers is s lag of
sbout thres yssrs befors final mortslity figures sre published by the
government end o further 'eg of ssversl yssrs befors sny one empiricel study
cen be orgenixed, erried out, end publiehed. Thersfors, to have s body of
vell-conducted resserch vhich mesningfully sddrsssss both the questions of
“Why?” end "What cen be done?!” demands fnordinats pstisnce among thoss ssger
for snewers.

It 1 not that the problem of sdolescent suicide {a new. 1t 1s thet the
significence of the problem has only recently esmerged. Conseider for s moment
the following stertling facts sbout teenage euicidst

© One cut of every five suicides in 1980 involved & 13- to 24-yssr-old
sale.

© Batwesn 1960 and 1980, the suicide rets for the 13-to 24-yssr-old age

group in the United Stetes mors than doubled from 5.2 to 12.3 per 100,000,
Thie 136 percent incresss sade sulcids the third leeding ceuss of desth {n
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0 In sbsolute numbers, over 5,200 tesnagers committed suicide in 1980;
sccounting for 11 percent of ell desthe smong 13-to 24-yssr-olds in our
country,

o With the exception of the sdolsscent/young sdult (15-24) segment of the
ponuletion, oversll mortelity retes have decresssd for every sge group
(Heelthy Psopls, 1979). Thess disturbing stetfstice cen be expleined by the
sharp riss in violent (euicide end homicide) desths among the young (Seiden
and Freites, 1980; Holinger, 1979).

o Firssras and sxploeives eccountsd for 62 percent of ell suicides among
13- to 24-yssr-oldc {a 1980. The tincresss in tha use of gune sccounts for
slmost ell tha f{ncreses noted in youthful auicides (Boyd, 1983), It fe
interesting to note that fully 85% of thoss using firssrms srs male snd that
stetes vith stricter handgun control lews have lower retes of suicids by
firssra (Lester & Murrell, 1982).

0 As wvith males, the majority of young females use firearms to kill
themsslves (52X of fewsles versus 64X males); yst they sre mors likely than
nales to ingest druge end poisons (20X of females versus 6% of males). This
sex-spacific choice of method has long besn thought to be one of the main
ressons why men sre overrepresentsd ss completed suicides snd why women sre
overrepresented se non-fetel ettempters.

0 lacisl differences sre slso svident in that mors than one in four bleck
suicides (26X) fe eged 15-24. While the suicide rete for minorities fe
significently lower than that for ths vhits majority, the greatsst incresss in
retes has besn noted for young bleck males who, in sddition, have had
treditionally high retes of homicides es well,

The “"At Risk” Adolescent

While suicide may best be viewed ee en intensely personal sct, s grest
veristy of socisl forces fwpings on eny individual's senss of self, needs,
resources, snd behavior. DBersan end Cohen-Sendler (1982) have outlined e
ssaple of indicetors of socistel changs sffecting the sdolescent populetion.
Profound i{ncressss in the number of children of divurced femiliss, birthe to
unmerried sdolescent vomen, drug uss, running sway from home, end juvenile
srrests sre but s fev of the eigns pointing to potentisl explenatory factors.

A recent study of runevey snd homelsss youth sesking refuge in smsrgency
shelters in Nev York City reported significent psychistrir problems smong this
populstion, including depression end suicidel behavior, sntisocisl bshavior,
or & combination of thess (Sheffer & Ceton, 1384). Of the 118 youths
intervisved, st lesst one-third of the girle end one-sixth of the boys had st
some time sttempted suicide. A releted study of 150 delinquent sdolescents st
8 coeducetional youth corrsctionsl fecility in Weshington Stats found that 30
of the 13- to 15-yser-olde interviewed (or 20% of the ssmple) had pravicusly
sttempted suicide (Miller, Chiles & Barnss, 1982). The eversge sge st which
the first suicide sttempt occurred wme sround 1) yessrs, with the ssrlisst
sttempt at sgs 7. The group svarsged sbout ] ettempts par youth, with s renge
of 1 to 5 sttempts. Furthermsors, wvhen youth such ss runaveys snd delinquants

sre insppropristely deteined in sdult jeile end lockups, they may sttempt
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suicide while {n the tecility. As documented by ¢ 1981 Univereity of Illinois
report prepared for the U.S. Depsrtment os Justice, the suicide rate of
juveniles {n edult jeils ie eight timea greater than that of juveniles in
juvenile detention centera end five tiaex grester than that of south in the
general population (V,S. Departmenc of Justica, 1981).

Males, both white and black, complete suicide at rates bsttsr than four
times thoee for females. In contrast, femalss ocutnumber malss by about the
same ratio when available data on attempted suicide are sxamined. The
significancs of thess dats lies in the fact that attempters and complsters, as
groupa, appear quite different. Although one may bs defined as an attempted
suicide in & nuuber of ways (e.g., intending to complets suicide but being
rescued, intervened with, or failing to complete versus not intending to dis
but rather to communicats an otherwiee unaccepted messags), ths typical
coapletad suicide in adolescence is a male ueing a gun and the typical
sdolescent atteapter ie a femals ingesting pills.

Since the attempted suicide remains alive and, conssquently, ia available
for obssrvation and study, what we have learnsd about the suicidal adolescenr
has come primarily from our study of young women and is retrospsctive in
naturs., Nesverthsleess, much can bs learned from the suicide attemptsr. And,
it is important to note that thare is overlap betwsen theae groupa. Onca a
youth ie despairing snough to jeopardize his or her 1ifs even without intent
to die, the likelihood of future and perhape mors lethal suicidal behavior
increases.

The majority of research on suicidal adoleacents has focused on family and
psfental dynamice. Adolescents, by definition, are caught betwsen childhood
snd adulthood. The often {ntenss end conflictual task of saparating from the
world of parente and family can be all the more difficult when family dynamics
interfere with the child's move toward eelf-gufficisncy. Parsnta of auicidal
adolescents have been characterized by more overt conflict and threats of
seperation and divorce, often culminating in tha losa of a parant for the
child prior to his or her 12th year (Millar et al., 1982; Cordar, Shorr, &
Corder, 1974; Stanley & Barter, 1970). Various psycholegical probleme ranging
from depression, alcohol, end drug abuse (Tishlar & McKenry, 1982) to current
end chronic sujcidal behavior (Gurfinkel et al., 1982; McKanry, Tishler, &
Xelly, 1982) heve also been found to charactsrize parents of suicidal
sdolescents. Suicidel adolescents report receiving little affaction (Korella,
1972). They hold negative views of their psrents and see themselves az

different from their parents (McKenry st al., 1982). When femiliee of @
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auicidel adolaacant hava been obaarved intaracting on s tesk, communications
to tha auicidal sdolescant have bean found to be limitad end oftan punitive
(Abrahaa, 1978). '

It {a underatandebla, than, that auicidel edolaacenta deacribe time apent
in their family as unenjoyabla (McKenry at al., 1982) and hava been found to
hava daf{cient problem-solving akilla (Hyneu, 1976; Lavanson & Nauringer,
1971). without sdaquata attantion to fulfilling tha adoleacant's need for
nurturanca and ekill training~- thoas ingradiante essential for paychological
grovth--the adolaacent at risk for auicida is one who lacks the resourcas
needad to daal with the crisss of growing up. Tha auicidel aedolescent fasla
axpendabla, yat ia unable to saparate anl leave. Inetaad, he or she davalopa
poor reality taating end becomea mors hopeless and depraessad (Ttahlar'a
McKanry, 1982; Topol & Resnikoff, 1982). Suicidel behavior, then, may sarve
aa & form of communication, & cry for halp to whomever might care, or & way to
aacapa & sssningly {naurmcuntabla problem.

Other cuea of deapair and poor problem-solving aekille may be avident in
tha adolaacant's behavior. Drug and alcohol uaa and aggresaiva dehavior have
bean found to be more pravalant in historisas of suicidal (va., non-auicidal)
adolaacenta (Garfinkel at el., 1982; Koralla, 1972).

In addition to focuaing on tha family, paychological atudiss have aleo
axemined the auicidel adoleacent'a behavior at achool and relationehipe with
paara. With reapact to achool behavior, auicidal adoleacanta sre wors likely
to emotionally withdrav from achool (Gibsonm, 1982; Cordar et al., 1974;
Koralle, 1972). School problems have bean found (Sarlas, Reynolda, & Haald,
1979), and underachiavament and poor achool parformance have characterized
thie group'e pra~auicidal behavior (Garfinkael et al., 1982; Koralla, 1972).
Yat it should be notad that whila the acedemic problame ara typical of
auicidal adoleacanta, thay may describe the much largar clesa of daprasead
adolaacanta es wall; unfortunataly, no atudy of suicidal adolaacanta has, as
yat, discriminatad tham from dapressed, non-suicidel adolescanta (Berman &
Carroll, 1984).

The academically capabla, but truly dapreseed and potantially auicidel,
adoleacant ia raraly plessad with academic perforssnce——making tha error of
ressoning that a grada of "B" {a the equivalant of en “F“, When euch
percaived feilures occur, thay have the potantial of haightening tha aanes of
deapair and hopelesansss slreedy falt. Buicidel edoleacente have basa found

to fasl sora pressura to do well in achool (McKenry at al., 1982)., Parceived
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failuras, thus, msy lead tha adolascant to fasar sn aven furthsr loss of
racognition from thoss family msmbers who damand scademic parformanca.

It ia common that adolsscsnts will at ona time Or snothar havs suicidal

fsntasiss (Cantor, 1976)., It 1ia slso trua that sdolsacsnts focus mors on ths
prassnt than ths futura. Whan sn adolascant expariencas strsss, then, a
constrictsd view of futurs possibilitiss and s momentsry fix on praasant
encapss msy hold sway. Impulsivity and poor saltsrnativ: problam-solving may
muks suicidsl fentssies turn to suicidsl behaviors. A positiva and haslthy
intarsction with psars may be sufficisnt sntidots to this destructivs precess.

Active paar involvemant (s.g., dating and ahsrad activitiss) snd closs
reistionships with parents havs bsen found to ba invarssly rslstsd to
seprassivs moad in saolescence (Kandsl & Dsviss, 1982). In contrsst, suicidsl
sdolsacants havs besa found to havs mors fraquent snd ssrious problama with
pears, to ba moras tntlrperlonllfy senaitivs, and to be lasa likely to havs s
clsas confidant (McKenry at nl.; 1982; Tiahlsr & McKenry, 1982),

Ths_Suicids Clustering Phenomsnon

Pears have one othar significant affact on ths potantially suicidel
adolascent: contagion. Adolascants sra highly suggsstibla, ssgsr to fmftsts
others in thair quest to e¢etsblish & suitabla identity. Suicidal! adoleacants
ars highly vulnarabls to influrncs as they lack positiva rola modsls snd ars
low in salf-asteem. Thus, whe . & suicids occurs snd rscsivas sttantion snd
raspunae in & comaunity (e.g., * school), it i{s not uncommon to find
subssquant suicidsl behaviora, often s "rash” or epidemic of followara. It
has been pioposed that ths first suicidsl behavior aarvas as s modsl or
parmiar’on giver to othars vho had been contsmplating such an sction (Bsrman &
Yufit, 1983). The phanomenon of contagion is most important for us to sddress
through our intervention= snd pravantion efforts st tha school and community
leval. Tha Centars for Dissass Control of tha U,S, Public Health Sarvica sra
currantly conducting s major study to sxplors thias puszling and tragic

phenomanon.
Sampla Csssa: Typas and Motivws

Tha deciaion to end ons's 11fs can nsvar be simpla. Suic{ds is s complex,
aulti~datarninad behavior that is sctad out aithar on impulss or as s life
plan. 1In adolaescenca, ‘has motivas for suicidsl bshavior appaar ). - -1y
intarpersonal, diractcd at sffacting changs in or ascapa fror ¢ ruuf .{ctusl
family or paar systam. Tha intsndad communicstion may rangs f* : t-s: ity to

halplesaness; sach csse hes {its idiocsyncrstic masssga. Ons thir. spp-.vs

vy f
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clear: no other way to achiave tha intended goal ia apparent to tha auicidal
adolaacant at tha time the behavior ia compellad.

Soms edoleacenta angage in auicidal behavior sa & coneaquanca of savare
amotional problema. Othare act out of deapair fros asvars depresaion,
intarpereonal iaolation, or unaxpreasasbla raga. For moat adolaacents; not
alreaady defined aa saversly diaturbed, auicide ia a deaparata act to and e
criaia in their livea. The folloving semple of cesss ia intended to provide
aoma inaight into the motivaa common to completad auicide:

A 12-yaar-old son of a military officar shot himealf with hia

fathar'a shotgun. He had been asvaraly punishad by hia father after

being caught playing hookey from achool.

The 1ifa of & 15-year-old boy wee "wraepped up” in & telaviaion apaca

show; hia room cluttared with apaca modala, poatera, and ralatad

parapharnalia. When not involved with this psssion, he apoke of

being borad and lacking challanga. When the taleviaion ahow wae

cancallad, he wrota a suicide note and jumped 200 fast to hie daath

from a bridge.

A 15-yaar-old femala, on alcohol and PCP, told her friend that ahe
had “measad up [her] 1ifa,” thean put a shotgun to har head.

A )1-yaar-old sale argued with hiae girlfriend end threatened to kill
himealf if aha valked out on him. BShe told him, "you'rs cresy.” He
pulled & gun out of hia pockat and shot himeelf in the head.

A 17-year-old hanged himsalf in & county jeil cell. He had bean

arrvaated for drunk driving the night after having failed a Marine
Corpa taat.

No vignatta can portray adejuataly the dynamice behind euch life atoriea,
No typology can eusmsrize guccinctly the uultiplicity of motivea for deciding
upon e aself-inflicted death Had the opportunicies prasantad themaselvea, wa
can only wonder which and howv many of thess auicidal dacieions might have bean
radiractad toward alternative, 1ife-auataining choicea. That thie ie poaaible
ia without quastion.

Interventions

It ia believad by auicidologiate that the decifaton to kill oneaalf e
rearely lacking in clura end aigne; often theae are readily diacarnibla to the
trainad therapiat but uarecognized by those cloasst to the victim. It {a
apparent, then, thet intarvantion begine with asssssment. The ability to
asessa g youth at-risk depande on an avsransas of aigna (both verbal and
behavioral) indiceting that the youth may be conaidaring auicida end an
ability to ovarcoms tha fealinga of anxiaty, halplasenass, anjer, or rage that
arias vhan confrontas with e life-threstening aitustion. Taeachars muat
racogniza and reapond to a atudeat in psin, in apite of the nyriad of other
responaibilitisa. Peaera, wost oftan tha firet turned to and communicatad with

(Roas, 1980), muat underatand that whet e auicidel sdolaacent neede ie e
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cering friend, end that e caring friend doea not hold sacrat s measaga that a
friend ia conaidering suicida. Both teachara and atudents faar the falt
rasponaibility of favolving themealvaa or of “"doing the wrong thing.” With
education to countar commonly hald mytha and {rrational feaere (e.g., if one
talke about euicide, one might suggeat it . . .), knowladga sbout vhat cen and
ahouid be dons, and {nformation concarning evailable rasourcaa for
profasaional {ntarvention, teachara and atudents cen be eignificent
gatakeapara 1in the intsrvention ayatam (Ross, 1980).

On e mors praventive laval, atudant~peeras can be taught how to identify
signe and aymptoma of dapression and panic and sbout the raalitiss of tha
mantal health ayatem and refarrala to promota battar sslf-~sssssssent and
nroblam—aolving (Rosa, 1983). In Celifornis cud Florida, for axampla, atata
lagialation has racently bean passad to provide for tha implementation of
pilot youth auicide pravantion programe in tha achoole to accompliah thasa
ob jactivaa.

With awaranses and aducation, affactive ataps toward interveution in and
prevantion of a auicidel ection can be teken. Suicidal communicationa can be
obaarved and taken sariouasly. Werning eignae for incresead risk of suicidel
behavior can be noted and rasponded to. Channala of communication and
empathic suppor: can be opanad and provided. Rafarrala for profesaional halp
can be made whara both appropgiate and nacasasary.

Individual or femily tnﬁ:y with the suicidel adolesacant muat firat end
foramoat enaurs the safaty of tha adoleacent. Youtha aveluastad at high riask
for continued salf-harm ahould be conaidarad for hospitalisation. In or out
of a hoapital aatting, howavar, traatment should be provided. Symptome muat
be emalioratad and ongoing sources of atress suat be removed or minimisted.
Moraovar, tha aupport of family and pesra muat be improvad and open
communicetion within tham ancoursged. Although femily therapy ia oftan tha
moat appropriate trastment for the auicidal youngatar, it smay be difficult to
puraua. Tha blama and responaibility axperiancad by familiasa of suicidal
adolaacanta may laad tham to quickly covar up ths open wound (Barman &
Carroll, 1984) or forago treatment (Morrieom & Colliar, 1969). For femilias
and pasrs of auicida victime, it is crucial that counssling be availabla to

halp them wourn premstura death by asuicide aund go on with thair livaa.

"
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The effectiveness of individual paychotherspy with s euicidsl adolescant
depends, in good messurs, on the quality of the ralstionehip established with
ths therspist. Whatevar the procaduras, ths goal of thatspy with s suicidal
adoleecant is to find noo-suicidsl solutiocos to tha problem(a) prsasntsd. In
thie procees, the mors importsnt gosl of tesching sffactivs probles—solving
skills applicabls to s wide rangs of futurs problem situations is sought.

As & laat word, suicidel behavior--whather snding fn dssth or ranawad
1ife-- 1is s communicstion of psin. Por thoss ws have opportunity to halp,
that comsunication commande our sttentfon. That but one life may be renswed
ehould be sufficisnt justificstion for ths affort.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify todsy on ths subjsct of taenags
suicids on behalf of ths Amsricen Paychologicsl Associstion. If I can provids
ths Subcommittee with any additionsl informstion, plesse do not hasitaste to

contact me.
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Senator SeecteR. Thank you very much, Dr. Berman.

What do you contribute the large increase in suicides to?

Dr. BErMAN. There is no one factor. Most of our research tends
to implicate some breakdown in the nuclear family, some increased
alienation among peers, among adolescents, and, perhaps, the cut-
backs in recent years in terms of mental health resources and
available funding through insurance.

Senator SprcTER. Dr. Berman, are we sure that there is really ar.
increase in suicides, or perhaps we are keeping better track of it?

Dr. BErmaAN. Well, undoubtedly we are keeping better track of it.
We have a long way to go in terms of improving that. In spite of
that, there are clear, undeniable increases in the certified rates,
and my guess is those rates underreport suicide among adclescents
by perhaps 50 percent.

Senator SpkcTeR. What influence, if any, does the use of drugs
have on suicide? There is a line where drug usage has beccme
much greater in the past quarter of the century.

Dr. BermAN. We can notice parallel increases in drug use. drug
abuse, and suicide rates. And again, that is corellationn! data; it is
not implicative of cause. We know that drugs are the No. 1 method
of choice for those attempting suicide but not completing. We can
much more point to the prevalence of guns as the method of choice
in completing suicide. We know that drug abusers share a common
pathway with suicidal people in terms of being depressed, in de-
spair, and helpless in finding effective ways to deal with life’s prob-
lems.

Senator SpecTER. You talked about impulsive and career suicide.
What is a career suicide person?

Dr. BErMaN. Well, Susan might be a good example of someone
who, hopefully, has stopped a career of using suicidal coping strate-
gies. She began suicide at a yourg age, and used that method——

S_ebr:ia'\?tor SpECTER. Someone who tries it a number of times over a
period?

Dr. BERMAN. Yes, repetitive use of this behavior to deal with
problems, either to gain attention or to communicate something.

Senator SPECTER. [ou say 80 percent of those who commit sui-
cide talked about it?

Dr. BERMAN. From research studies, we estimate that from 75 to
%0 percent, yes.

Senator SpecTer. If you were to give advice to parents of teen-
agers on a way to deal with the potential problem of suicide in
their own children, what would you tell them?

Dr. BermaN. That is a very difficult question, because oftentimes
parents are imbedded in family problems, and they may be strug-
gling with their own issues, and may not be in the best position to
observe. )

I think my advice is to observe closely any changes in an adoles-
cent's behavior, and to ask questions, ‘well, what is going on?”

Senator SpecTer. If there is some communication about suicide
in the mind of the teenager, that is a pretty good sign, from what
you say?

Dr. BErMAN. Definitely. If the message is given, it is a myth to
believe that we should keep our mouth shut about the subject.
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Senator Seecrer. And if the teenager brings up the subject of
suicide, what advice would you give to the parent, ‘on how to re-
spond?

Dr. Berman. Well, 1 would first say to sit down and talk about it,
and give as much support, and ask uestions, and do not be afraid
to open the subject, and if the chi(id goes on and communicates
some thought that he or she is thinking about suicide as a way to
deal with his or her problems, to recommend that perhaps together
they go seek some outside help, and talk about it.

Senator SPECTER. At what stage, if you can generalize, would you
recommend seeking outside help?

Dr. BERMAN. As early as possible.

Senator SPECTER. How about the question of a parent brin-,ing up
the subject of suicide? We asked that question of earlier witnesses.

What would your sense of that be?

Dr. BErMaN. I think it is an appropriate topic to bring up, again,
if there is some stimulus. That is, if the child says something that
suggests that it is on his or her mind, or if there is some public
statement about suicide, just to raise the subject in a general way
to l;s-ee where the child is at in his or her thinking. This is a taboo
subject.

A child or adult who is feeling suicidal often feels the taboo and
stigma, and is scared to bring it up, because the general feeling is
“I will frighten away all these people who might care for me.”

Senator SPECTER. How about the problem, or the potentiality if a
parent brings it up for planting the suggestion?

Dr. BERMAN. We have absolutely no data that that happens.

‘ Seq)ator Specter. Well, aside from the data, what is your feeling
or it’

Dr. BERMAN. | have never seen it to be an issue.

Senator SPECTER. You do not think it is a problem, that is a
matter that is initiate, as has been suggested by reference to other
people, what they apparently read in the newspapers?

Dr. BERMAN. Suicidal adolescents oftentimes are highly suggesti-
ble. One of the problems, perhaps, that you are address'.ng is if the
subject is brought out into the open, it would be like we were plant-
ing a seed, creating an idea that they have not already thought of.

irst of all, they have thought about it, it is on their mind.
Second of all, what we are talking about here is an opportunity to
interact on the subject, not only to bring it up, but to talk about it.
That is the difference between seeing a report in the newspaper, or
on television, where there would not be any interactive response.

Senator SPECTER. Where you talk about children feeling either
expendable or responsible, could you amplify on that? What should
pgfe;)ts be looking for on a feeling by the teenager being expend-
able’

Dr. BErman. Well, it is very common, at least in my clinical
practice, and from others that I have talked to, that an adolescent
feels responsible for the problems that the family is dealing with.

There was a report a few weeks ago that a c ild of a military
family, it was reported widely in the press, in People magazine,
where the family had some clear financial problems, and was
having trouble meeting their basic needs, and the child basically
said if there were one less mouth to feed perhaps things would go
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better. There was a clear message, that the child was feeling re-
sponsible for solving the problem, and perhaps for even causing
some of the problems.

Senator SpECTER. Did that child attempt suicide?

Dr. BerRMAN. That child committed suicide.

Senator SpkctER. Dr. Berman, if you had the opportunity to get

ederal assistance, where would you like to sce it go, on this
problem?

Dr. BErmaN. If [ had that opportunity, I would spend the money
wisely on research, and on program development. And Jjust perhaps
integrating what we do know.

Senator SpecTER. What kind of research would you undertake?

Dr. BermaN. I think there has to be good work on family sys-
tems, that is what happens to families when one or more family
members get in trouble. There has to be good work on how these
messages have been communicated by adolescents who have gone
the suicidal route, in the school system, and in the family. We are
tuking educated guesses on the basis of individual reports; nobody
hus bothered to research this. There has to be clear research on
what might work prog rammatically, educationally, and preventively.

Senator SprcTER. On that note, let us turn to Myra Herbert, who
is a social work services coordinator, from Fairfax County, VA,
school district, and I understand, Ms. Herbert, that you have a
model program which has been developed there for the school
system,

Ms. HERBERT. Yes.

Senator SprcTeER. We very much appreciate your coming, and
look forward to your testimony.

STATEMENT OF MYRA R. HERBERT

Ms. HerBERT. Thank you, Senator Specter.

I am here today to discuss the Adolescent Suicidal Prevention
Program in Fairfax County. I am also here to tell you that preven-
tion programs work, and are where more of our money and energy
ought to be directed.

In September 1982 the Fairfax County School Board declared
this program a priority, and asked that it be made a school and
community effort. An advisory committee was convened with rep-
resentation from the school system, the mental health centers, the
medical association, police department, and the mental health asso-
ciation.

The primary goal was to give the faculty of every high school an
awareness of the signs, and symptoms of children at risk, guide-
lines for talking with troubled children, and channels for referring
them to ongoing help.

In addition, the PTA’s, the Parent Teacher Associations were
asked to organize correlated programs, and schools were requested
to design appropriate activities for students.

It is not a simple matter to put a mandated program into a
school’s schedule. It is impossible to take time in the working/
teaching day. We therefore had to present a didactic session in a
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regularly scheduled 4>-minute faculty meeting, which was really a
constriction.

And then follo #ing—-—

Senator SpecTER. A didactic session?

Ms. HerBerT. A didactic session. We just went in and talked
steadily for 45 minutes. We then held an open house the next day,
with the mental health professionals from the school system and
from the community, and teachers dropped in on their free periods.
They did, indeed, bring in questions, concerns, many individual re-
ferrals, and often their own issues.

In the 1980-81 school year there were 11 recorded teenage sui-
cides in the county. There were actually more that occurred during
vacations or after graduation. There were several deaths recorded
as accidental because of the circumstances or wishes of the family.

Senator SPECTER. Was that a very high incidence for a communi-
ty of your size?

Ms. HERBERT. Very high. The real number was over 20. The
number dropped to five after the first year of this program, and
fell to three last year. Staff reports that referrals from teachers
have escalated.

It must be noted that the decrcase is not in accordance with the
national trend, which has risen steadily every year. This is a con-
tinuing program, and this year we are dealing more directly with
students, looking at the social and emotional issues of their age
group, and the impact on education.

We are hoping to organize a very complete awareness session for
all administrators, and will continue with parents and teachers.

Adolescents need a beiter support system than this society is pro-
viding. In earlier geners.tions, teens had places to turn. Extended
family lived nearby, one r the other parent was usually available.
There werz religious a:ifiliations, there were youth groups that
reached large numbers. These kinds of support disappeared as
family moved every few years, both parents began working, divorce
rate rose, religious ties weakened, and youth groups seem to have
gone out of fashion.

As a result, kids are bringing their problems in to school. We
often hear the argument about whether this is an appropriate area
for involvement of schools, but it is a pointless argument. Whether
they should or not, kids are carrying their issues into the class:
room, and bringing them to the school personnel they know and
trust.

Schools, for many children, may also be the most constant and
dependable thing in their lives. The difficulty is that schools are
taking on these duties with no changes in budget, and using staff
that is already heavily ladened with responsibility, and cannot
cover the problems adequately. They could do a great deal more
with proper funding and organization.

| am not suggesting that schools take on long-term counseling,
but much more could be done effectively with short-term crises,
community referral, and most of all, prevention.

1 would like to ask you to take into legislative consideration the
proposal that more begavioral science professionals be added to the

school rosters, either administrated by schools or community
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mental health centers in uniws that operate exclusively as liaison
with the local school system.

There should also be consideration for more affordable mental
health care in the community. The mental health centers have
long waiting lists, and private care is prohibitive for many, espe-
cially if there is no health insurance. Many group policies make ub-
solutely no provision for outpatient mental health counseling,
which is, in my opinion, the single largest need of adolescent
health care. Kids need people to listen to them.

The efforts of such organizations should not only be to offer sup-
port and guidance to students, but to assist parents and families to
understand the issues at stake, and to give direction in the care
and growth of our young.

Suicide for the young is frequently an impulsive act, and if help
is forthcoming at the right moment, the crisis passes, often never
to return. There is no benefit in lamenting the state of the present
age, and longing for a past one. Life has changed, and we have
changed, and we must adjust. If we do not, we are placing our chil-
dren at ever increasing risk, and will see more of them escaping
from a life they find intolerable.

Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Herbert follows:]
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PRePARED STATEMENT OF MyrRa R. HERBERT

ADDRESSING THE ISSUE OF TEENAGE SUICIDE IN A PUBLIC SCHOOL SYSTEM

Fairfax County, Virginia is s four hundred squars mile ares outaide ©f
wetropolitan Weshington, D, C. It is lsrgely affluent and middle-class with
s medisn family income of $47,600 snd s per capita income of $14,731 in 1983,
but contsins 8 variety of socio-economic and ethnic groups. In 1983, there
was 8 minority populastion of 14.6 percant. Approximately 7 percant of that
is black and ths remainder Southesst Asisn, Hispanic, and other smaller
racisl and cultursl groups. In one high achool, there are 60 different

languages spoken

The Fairfax County achool system is the uwighth largestin the United
States. In 1984, there are 123,794 students enrolled in 162 schools. Forty-
aix of thoss schools sre intermediate and high achools, some of which have
populations of four and five thpusand children. It is the population of

these achoola st which the suicide prevention program is simed.

In ths 1980-81 achool yesr, there were eleven recorded adoleacent
deaths by suicids in Pairfax County. It must be undarstood that these were
studanta enrollsd who took their lives during the achool yonr; There were
s number of other destha that occu:red during vacstions or immediately after
graduation, or that were questionable enough to be recorded es sccidentel
eithsr because of the circumstances or becsuse of the wishes of the femily.
The sctual totsl was well over twenty, perhaps higher.

In the 1982-83 school year, in responsze the Fairfax County School Board
elected to make a suicide prevention program e priority and requeatad that
the effort be organized to make it s cooperstivs school and Community program.
The Department of Student Services snd Specisl tducstion, an umbrells
department that encompasses 8 wide range of relsted services, ripidly

orgsnized s school/community 8d/inc: 'y cosmittee with representstion from the

school syatem, the comminity mental heslth centers, the madical sasociatior,
the wantal heslth essociation, snd the police departmant. This comittee
servad not only ss en advisory committee, but took part in the implements-
tion of the program, organizing speakers, and contributing oxportino.'

It was dscided that the program should reach three groups: taschers,
parepta, and tha students themselves. Every high achool and intexmediaste
achool faculty was to heve en inservice program that would eddress depression
and suicide in children. Parent Tescher Associstions would be saked to
organize correlsted program. during the same period and ell achools were
aakad to provide information ».u essistance to students. This was extended
over 8 two-year period, 1982-83 fo: high schools and 1963-84 for intermediate
schools.
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It is not a amall matter t organize a program within the confinea of
the school day. Schools are often criticized by outside agencies for not
responding en massa to what miy be viewed by saome aa a crucial need. If
teachers were mandated to an assembly for a subatantial period of time,often
the suggestion, the classroomswould be unatte.nded, and the needs of the
curriculum would go uniset. Teachers must cover a specified amount of
mater ial in a specified number of hours and are held accountable for that
Ccoverage. There is the added aspect that ipn a county this large, all parents
do not see all issues as equally important and can be vocal and critical of

the school aystem for using time for other than academic eubjects.

We therefore decided on a format that, while not ideal, tcould pet
provoke neqative reaction. A r~gular forty-five minute faculty meeting was
designated as a workshop on adolescent suicide. This was designed to be a
didactic session constructed to heighten the awareness of teachers and provide
guidel ines for talking to students and referring problems to the Proper
resources within and without the achool. The following day, an all-day open
house was to be held in a comfortable conference room where coffee was
available. Teachers were invited to drop in during their free periods to talk
with the school social worker, the school Psychologiet, a guidance counselor,
often the apeaker from the previous day, and community mental health profes-
sionals as they were available. These professionals etatloned themselves in
schools all day. This proved to Le a very effective method of communicating.
Many teachers asked queationa they would have heaitated to ask in a larger
more formal group, many brought in thuir own issue., and a great number
referred children they had been worried about for soms time but had not
identified as having a apecific problem.

Guidelines were developed for the material that snould be covered by
any speaker to any of the groups, the signs and symptoms of depression and
suicidal jdeation which children are apt to exhibit. It wae stressed that
a single factor is dnually not significant, but clusters of factors are.
(See Attachment A.) Every faculty member in the county wae also given a
Public Affairs pamphlet that served as a ready reference. (Seo Attachment B.)

Community cooperation was excellent. Agencies and private practitioners
gave generously uf their time both to the achools and to the parent groupe.
The Division Superintendent gave the program full support and all achools
held faculty programs. (See Attachment C.) At least three-quarters of the
Parent Teacher Associations did the same. Student programs were not so
widely successful. The adminis'. ators of many achools were cautious about
doing something labelled "suicide" with students, many operating under the
misquided notion that discusaing the subject encourages the thought. Only
one high school did a program that reached the entire atudent body. 1In
working with students, however, one quickly realizes that they discuss the

subject freely amung themselve: and have very little diacomfort with it.
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We therefore began to look at alternative methods of reaching students
by a somewhat different route and reexamined those issues moust mentioned as
the causes of stress and unhappinesa in adolescents. During ;983-84, we
began to do organized programs on social and emaotional issues with gstudents.
These took “he form of doing in a particular high school about six hours of
group work with functioning students known either by the guidance counselors
or by friends to have “a problem™ of soma kind. Many had multiple issuee
but isolated one as the one to be addressed. These students “hen presented
a panel for the entire student body, parents, and teachers at an evening
session. They have offered their experiences with a particular issue and
their methods of copinq. Needless to say, this has been both successful
and rewarding. Adolescents are extremely self-absorbed and tend to think
their situations are unique. This program too has been followed by an
open house tive following day, and students never identified as "troubled"
have shown up to discuss problems they previously thought were theirs alone.
They hear the experiences and listen to the advice of their peers much beiter
than they hear adults.

We are expanding this effort during the 1984-85 school year and hope to
reach evary high school. We have made a video tape of one of these panels.
1t is about thirty-minutes long and well worth the time it takes to view.

Young people are open, honest, and spontaneous, and have proved very glad to
have someone listening to them.

There is nothing more difficult to evaluate than a prevention program,
There were, however, five deaths in the first year of the program and only
three last year. This is again only the period duxing which school was in
session. There were, however, also fewer deaths during holiday periods.
Coincidence perhaps, but that is in inverse proportion to the national
statistics. Mental health and guidance personnel in the schools report
that the referral of students to their offices has risen significantly, and
that faculties and administrators display an increased sophistication in
identifying troubled situations. wWe have good reason to believe the program
has had a positive impact and should be considered in other school districts
over the nation.

PERSONAL VIEW

when 1 began on a suicide prevention progrum for the Fairfax County
Public Schools, I reviewed the deaths that had occurred in the 1980~8i
school year, the Year before I joined the system. I searched school records
and interviewed school personnel who had known the students. Though some of
the fiLdings were probably sociologically peculiar to PFairfax County, much
of what I learned corroborated only some of what is thought to be true about
su,cidal young people. I have continued, with the help of the police depart-
ment, who have used a survivor interview format I requested, to trv to

develop profiles of students at risk. The format is not intrusive and does
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not ask any questions the police would not usually ask; it simply insures
that the important arezs are covered. This was not hart research and the
ent:rs group numbers approximately thirty students. There was more informa-
tion available on some than on nthers Trom the combination of these things,

I have found ths following:

® Only one stulent over the three-year period was known 4, have any diffji-
culty with the law and tha% was minor.

® There vers more males than females.

o Most of tle miles used guna, but so did a significant number -f the
females. wlich is contrary to popular belief. In most cases, the guns
were in the 'ome and belonged to the immadiate family.

8 About five of the students were reported by fa.ily or fribnds to have
been depressed.

8 Three of ihe entire group had had or were presently receiving psychiatric
therapy or some form of mental health counseling.

® If there vere histories of physical or “exual abuse, none emerged.

® Several of the ustudents had run away--some several times.

® Exposurs 19 pornography did not ap,ear to be an issue, but at least three
deaths vere auto-erotic hangings. One student was found with a copy of
4 popular magazine describing such an action. Tt must be added, however,
that in each of these cas:s, the students were reported to be having
difficulties of other kindu, either acadamically or with families.

® Family problems of same kind figured in almost all ajtuations, although
thase varied greatly. About half the group had experisnced parentsl
divorce. Many of the others had conflict issues with one or the othar
parent and four instances of suicide occurred after a family argument.

8 Of the entire group, only two students were rnown to have been substance
abusers and only one a perious abuser. I am often distressed by the link
mide between suicide and substance abuse in an almost automatic manner.
Young people often use suhstances to escape or to self-medicate, but
their problems are frequently avident long before drug use begina. That
fact is sometimes explained away as though gubstance abusing is the begin~-
ning and the end. They are all escaping, by lonyer or shorter routes,
something they are finding unbearable.

® Of the entire group, there was not an individual who was not touched by
academic issucs, and on this I would like ko expand. It is the students
on either end ot the academic spertrum who seem to have the most difficulty.

Six students wore clearly what we deem “overachievers,* students with
academic ability but who push thamselves to a limit thal is sometimes
unhealthy. At the ot.er end of the spectrum are the underachievers, and

srticularly those labeled as “learning~disabled." Underachievement is

the single largest common factor I found in the entire group and most of

those had 4 learning-disshled (LD) label. In an upwardly mobile,
ambitions, college-bound student body, thene are tho childven who drift
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to the bottom, who experience a very real sens¢ of futility and to whom
we are not paying enough attention.

We have not observed an identifiable cluatering phon%mcnon, although
I can understand the adolescent predilection for that kind of behavior.
We d{d have three suicides in one achool over a two-semesater period.
Theas wers atudents who knaw one another vaguely but were not good

friends. Perhaps more importantiy, all three were learning-disabled.

This has been a summary of the identifisd suicide population in Faisfax
and the factors that appeared to be relevant. I must emphasize once again
that this was not a atudy . - an organized piece of inveatigation; it vas
done informally to give guidance in the construction of the prevention

program. Stucenta have continued to define their iesues for us.

From my Yu1rs of clinical practice with this age group and from the
student groups held over the paet year, there are numerous factors which

emerge as important and should be given attention.

@ Academics and academic pressure play a large part in young lives. The
cost of college is overwhelming for many families and competition for
scholarships is% intense. Many students have jobs as well and know that
colleges and universities place an importance on extracurricular activities,

e Evan the bright are pushed to the limit either by thei: own expectations
or those of their families. Parental expectations, particularly unrealis-
tic ones, play a large part in student astress.

e For those wh~ ars not bright or who clearly have learning difficulties,
life appears bleak. In a world where those with college educations are
not finding jobs, those who may just graduate from high achool do not ree
great hope.

e Learning disability creates terrible frustration and etudents are often
given unkind labels, such as dumb or stupid. We are not as a nation
spendinc enough money researching the process of learning.

e A death >f a parent or that of a close friend is a painful loas for an
adolesc:at and can change the course of life,

e BHBeing in a minority is often painful and lorusly.

e An alcoholic parent is a damaging burden for an adolescent.

e Having a mentally or physically 111 parent will often render a child
troubled and depressed for much of his or her own life.

e The American emphasis on sports and sports achievement c;n leave many
young people feeling inadequate because they cannot perform in thim sphere.

® Divorce is not good for chi ren., It is a searing, devastating experience
for most children, and there is a necessity to handle it with much more
care and concern than iy often being exercised. Parents need more
education,

e Living in combined families is not a story-book experience, It is frought
with peril and families need far more guidance than they are being given.
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Having two working parents proves to he a factor, particularly if a child
is left alone a great deal or in charge of siblings. Wot only is parental
attention sometimes wanting, but siudies on adults who have had this
experience are beginning to show that it may leave an individual with
unspecified fears, paranoid thinking, and a lack of social skills. Good
care substitute plans deserve more connideration.

Adjusting to a new socloty is sometimes mystifying to bath children and
their families, particul~rly when they are from a non-Western culture.
Students get caught between p.rental behavioral dictates and the normal
adolescent desire to emulate peers.

Mobility and the transiency of our national population is often creating
fallure and misery fo. our young people. 1In Fairfax County, we have a
large governmental populution, foreign service and State Department
families, military families, and large corporation executives who seem
to move every two or three years. In addition, one of the perils of
affluence is the need to move to a larger, nicer house. Divorce also
often means a location change. Sove of our schocols empty and refill by
as mich as 50 percent every year. Admittedly that is not typical of the
national picture, but it is not atypical eithrr of many urban areas.
Children report moving as much as nine times in fourteen years. There
are two dangers in this; one is that studenti are constantly changing
achool programs and, particularly if academics do not come eawily, thay
glive up somewhere along the ;ny. The second is that they lose their
friends and this is particularly difficult after the age of twelve.
Coming into a new school can be a nightmare for many, and families often
report severe behavioral changes.

t
When one begins to real‘ze that many of our teenagers are experiencing

several of these factors at the same time, the strains upon them become

evident. We must as a society look at what we are doing to our children.

PROPOSED SOLUT1ONS

Adolescents need a firmer support system than they are being offered in
this society. 1In the age when families remained intact and stayed in one
place the extended family, the grandparents, aunts and uncles, cousins and
aiblingn often performed that function. That was alueo an age when even
small towns had organized youth groups and most families 'aad chuich affilia-
tions. Mothers remained at home and fathers did not travel greatly. Most
of that kind «f support system is gone for most of our young, and we have

offeted no sul.stitutes.

1 believe that public schools are filling much of that gap. Ther: is
little point in arguing that they should not be; children are bringing thelr
problems into the classroom and it is often proving impossible to educate
them until some of the obatacles are removed. Public schools, however, are

filling the yap with inadequate preparation, psrsonnel, or budget.
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Professional staff assiyned to tha schools could do much to allay the
prohiems of children and to sducate farents. Many schoovla have mental
health personnel on staff now, but these psopls are absorbed with the huge
tasks of meeting the requiremen:e of Public Law 94~142. And while they have
skills, they do not have the time to use tham and achool budgets are etretchad
to the 1imit. I am not for an inetant advocating that that law be in any way
changed, but rather that further personnsl be added, and additional federal
funda be appropriated for that purposs.

1 would also advocate that such ataff bs administrated ;y ths school
ayatem rathar than by community mental hsalth systems. Thare ere demande
end requirements upon school systems that exterior agencies do not eesm to
sasily ccuprehend, Appropriations should be made, however, clearly for this
xind of supplemental program and personnsl hired thould be trainad in the

srsa of beshavioral acisnce and not education.

The alternative ie to create a school liaison dspartment in the com-
sunity mental health centers that smploysmantal health profeesionals trained
in the workings of an educational system and that developsaspec‘alized com-

sunication with the local school systems.

In sither case, such a service muat be further supported by more afford-

able mental heal*h care in the community. The school service can function

as @ short-tarm trisis agency during the achool year, but wany children and
families nesd longer term assistance. At present, there ia often no vhere

to send em, particularly if they do not have health insurance. The agencise
with adjustable fee acalas have lony waiting liete and tha coast of private
practitioners ie prohibitive for many. If help is not offered at the time

of immediete need, ths trouble is often closed over again until it srupts

at another time or in another form.

The efforts of such orgenization should not only be to offer eupport
and gquidancs to studants but to assist parente and familiee to underatand
the iesues at stake and give direction in the cere end growth .of our young.
Suicide for the young is frequently an impulsive act and if help is forth-
COwma..§ at the right moment, the crisie passes, often not to return,

There is no b:efit in lamenting the atate of the present age and
longing for a past one. Life haa changad, and ~e muet adjust. 1f we do
not, we are placing our childran at ever-incrsaeing risk, and we will see
more of them escaping from a life they find i{ntolerable.
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Senator Srrcrer. Thank you very much, Ms. Herbert.

You say the suicide rate went down from 25 to 3 over a 3-year
span. Do you know what would be an expected or average rate of
suicides for a community your size?

Ms. HerBERT. I do not. I do not know.

We have a very large student body that numbers over 123,000.
That includes elementary school children.

- Senator SprcTER. | am just wondering if you are under three, or
if you are statistically, average three?
r. Berman, would you have any idea?

Dr. BErRmAN. Approximately 100,000 children, you might expect
to have somewhere between 3 or 4 completed suicides per year.

Senator SpecTER. Well, perhaps if you have two or three, it is
perhaps not a statistic that you can gauge very accurately.

How expensive has it been for ;our school district to put this pro-
gram into effect?

Ms. HerserT. Not as expensive as it might be, because we have
gotten a lot of voiuntary help from the community. Mental health
professionals including private practitioners, have given time.

Senator SpeECTER. Volunteered their services?

Ms. HERBERT. Volunteered.

Senator Srkctkr. Ms. Herbert, if you were to give advice to a
parent about what to look for, how to prevent potential suicide in a
teenage child, what would you say?

Ms. Hernert. The first thing I would say is stay in touch with
your kids, from the time they are small, if you possibly can. Listen
to what they tell you, and listen quietly—I have a 16-year-old of
my own, and [ find that sometimes I really must steel myself to
listen, und not react. It is better, however, to know what is going
on with them, and have them talk to you openly, than to run from
the subject or shut it off. I think that'is the single most important
thing that parents can do.

Senator SpECTER. So the most fundaimental advice is to communi-
cate?

Ms. HERBERT. And to hear.

Senator SpecTER. How about the subject of suicide itself?

Dr. Berman and others testified that when it is mentioned, it is a
sign of a real problem. Do you agree with that?

Ms. Hrknkrr. Well, I work frequently with large groups of stu-
dents, and it is my experience that thev talk about it quite easily
among themselves, and with adults, with very little of the kinds of
reaction that we have as adults. I think for us it is very shocking,
and it makes us feel guilty and responsible, and we wonder what
we have done wrong, but kids do not experience that.

They do talk openly, and many have at least considered it at
some point .n their lives, as most of us have.

Senator SPECTER. Do you think most teenagers think about sui-
cide at some time?

Ms. Herserr. [ think that everybody —probably everybody in this
room has at least thought about it once, and 1 think children are
the same way.,

Senator SPECTER. Do you think everybody has thought about sui-
cide at least once?

Ms. Hersert. | think so.
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Senator Srrcrer. How nbout the subject of the parents bringing
up the matter of suicide, do you think that would be suggestive,
and harmful, or do you think it is on balance a good thing to do?

Ms. Hersert. 1 think it depends on the context in which you do
it. If there is a program about suicide, or something on the media,
cometh.ng relevant, or something in the newspaper, to bring it up
is not a bad thing.

Senator SpecTER. Do you think if there is some excuse to bring it
up,. it is a useful thing to do?

Ms. Hergert. | am sorry, I did not hear that.

Senator SPECTER. Some excuse, look for a way to bring it up, a
parent sees—-—

Ms. Herserr. If you are worried about your child, sure.

Senator SpecTER. A person sees Mrs. Herbert on the television
talking about it, that is an occasion to say, hey, that is a subject we
ought to talk about?

Ms. Hersrrt. Well, I would say “this is apparently a very well
publicized subject right now, but what do you think agout it? What
is going on with your friends?”’

" ?gnator SpecTER. Give an example. You are an expert in the
ield.

If a parent wanted to find occasion to bring this subject up, what
would be an appropriate opening, and how would you suggest that
a parent raise the subject?

Ms. Hersert. | would say, simply, “There has been a lot of
media attention to suicide lately, in adolescents. It seems to be a
growing national problem. What do you think about it? What do
your friends think?” Or you might take some film, like “Ordinary
People,” which got a great deal of publicity not too long ago, and
which I think many of the kids went to see, and discuss it with
your child.

There ure opportunities to bring up most subjects quite easily
with kids, if you do indeed talk with your children, and communi-
cate with them.

Senator SrecTER. Do you think it would be wise to look for such
an opportunity to discuss the subject of suicide?

Ms. Hergert. | think if you are concerned about a child being
depressed, or having a combination of difficulties, if there is some
reason to do it, by all means.

Senator SprcrER. What is your sense as to drugs as a causative
factor of teenage suicide, Ms. Herbert?

Ms. HerBERT. i have rather strong feelings about that, some of
which [ think have been echoed here today. I think that too many
people make a very direct association between suicide and drugs.
They write off the suicide because the kid was on drugs.

My feeling about it is that kids go on drugs to self-medicate, or to
escape in some way, and the signs of their problems are there long
{)oi'i(n'v they start drug taking, and that is where we ought to start
ooking.

Senator SpkcteRr. How about the subject of sexual abuse, do you
think that is a causative factor, a significant causative factor of
teenage suicide? _

Ms. HerBerT. I have not found it so. My feeling abrut sexual
abuse is that in women it leads to difficulty with sex relations in
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adult life, and for men they often become sexual abusers them-
selves. But I have seen only a single direct association.

Senator SpecTer. To what extent would you like to see the Feder-
al Government involved in this problem?

Ms. HeErsBert. Well, T would like to see flow-through money of
some kind, if that were possible.

Senator SpECTER. What would you suggest, by way of a Federal
program, if you were to fashion one, have some help on the pro-
gram?

Ms. HErBERT. 1 think that the most useful thing, would be the
kind of thing I outlined, where either mental health appropriation
was made directly to public schools, I suppose funded through
States, or directly to community mental health programs, which
then worked very closely with schools, with units specifically as-
signed to this kind of activity with the school program.

Senator SvecTER. Well, that is very helpful.

Thank you very much, District Attorney Ownby, thank you, Ms.
Herbert, :ind thank you, Dr. Berman.

We will pursue this subject, and pay close attention to your rec-
ommendations.

(Whereupon, at 11:34 a.m., the subcommittee adjourned, subject
to the call of the Chair.]
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APPENDIX

ANDREW TETER 2520
NO! AN TIESTRA R}
SILVER SPRING, Wl
098]

Octoher 29, 1984

senate jubcamnitteo on Juvenils Justice
Jenate dart sullding
Room 015

rashington, 0, 2, 20510

Dear sirs:

I would lile to offer my views on the oauses of teenage suloide, whioh I understand
was the subjeot of recent hearings and therefor & subject of ourrent interest to the
Suboommitttes, I am sarry for my delay in writing this letter, and I hope it is in
time for your consideration, You may include it in your hearing recard if you wish
althoush 1 realise this is unlikely,

Although teenags suloide is nothing new and thers are protably several factors
involved in teenage suloides, [ think a significant faotor now 13 that thore seems to
soms tesnagers to be no escaps from a sosisty that is becoming increasingly oompetitive,
fast-proed, oomplex, mtarialistio, polluted, siok, morally’ weak, self-destruotive, and
unable to cantrol its economy and technology, or from the pressures from the family and
soclety to compete and '"sucoeed" in thie society. This realization by the teenager
my be oonsoious or uncanwolous. Although we may think they are not seeing reality,
perhaps they ses & reality that we are not willing to see, The 1960's were a time of
idealism and hope that idealism will work, and.social protest was expressed in
oolorful, beautiful, life-affirming hipple-like styles; but the 1980's are & time of
self-interest and little hope that 1dealism will vark, with scoial protost expresred
in black, oolarless, ugly, deathly punk-like styles, I asked a very punk-style
dressed fellow what his philosophy of 11fe was, and he said "stick it up your ear,"

I told him my philosophy was to try to make the world a better place, and he said
“shat I do won't make any difference,” And maybe he's right, but I'm not willing to
adudt that,

Children hawve nuclear nightamres; a large percent of tesnagers expect nuclear
war within 10 years; students in ane high sohool request suicide pills to be
available in case of nuclear war, We live in a society headed toward sudden death
by nuclear war or slow death by pollution and < struction of the ecosysten, and
simultaneous slow death of our maral strength, our social fabrio, our ideals, and
our spirit, It seoms that oompetition, temptation and sensory stimulation sont>ol
wl, and that thers 1s no escape. This probably seems 1ike a living death indeed

to the sensitive and 1dealistio sic'e of many teensgers, suicides of teenagers
my be but & harbinger of the suloide of our society and ps all of humnity that
threatens us,

The way out of owr problems is for oocoperation to predominate over oompetition
through & massive oilnge in our economio system and way of 1ife, & grasaroots change by us
as oitizens, oonsumers and investors, hopafully led by or ut least with the
ocopsration of government and the ecanomically powsrful, i. order to avoid & class
struggle or social hreckdom, Eoonomia democrsoy, decentra.isation of economic power
and responsibility, sslf-control ovar our economy, o'r tecknology,tourselves as a
society, and sow simplification of lifestyle, are necessary, Cooperative business
tust play & lar;e rols, and by this 1 mean coopsratives and & strong systez of
oooperatives, lationalism, capitalism and ths free market will not save us, Only
oooperation can save us, so we must learn to cooperste. Not Just the United States,
but other nmatirns as well, A irica must provide moral leadership. voluntary
cooperation can ba the reconciliatory meeting ground, the synthesis, between Amerioan
capitalisez d Soviet oommunism, so that both nations can saoh ooase its kind of
aggresaive. .., If cooparation can only ooms in the face of a common enemy, then boti
nationy must see that our cowion snemy is the possible self-destruoction of humnity.

Sincerely,

Rodocs C . T

Andrew C, Tater
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Adolescent Suicide and the Classroom Teacher

Patrick C. McKenry
Canl L. Tishler
Karen L. Christman

ABSTRACT

Adolescent suicide is a phenomenon of epidemic
propartions, constituting the third leeding cause of
death in this age group Various theories of suicide
are reviewed and the attention to family variables
discussed These theor~' :al models indicate the multi-
dusciphingry nature of the problem — that is, that
adolescent swicide requires a medical, psychological,
social and educational approach to the problem. Since
school plays a major role in the lives of adolescents, it
offers an avenue of approach to adolescent suicide. A
list of behavioral changes indicative of emotional
dustress is provided for teachers for use in identification
and referral Teachers should also serve an educational
Junction. Discusston of suicide duspels myths and
modifies the likelihood of an attempt. Several
suggestions concermtng how school personnel may
intervene are provided.

INTRODUCTION

Adolescent suicide and suicide attempts constitute a
major social and medical problem today. Almost $,000
adolescents and young adults committed suicide in 1977
— an average of 13 a day. The present adolescent
suicide rate has doubled in the last decade and tripled in
the last 20 years while the nation's overall suicide rate
has not varied much in the past half-century. Suicide is
presently the third leading cause of death among
adolescents: only accidents and homicides account for
more deaths.'!

Statistics tend to underestimate the extent of the
problem. Because of religious taboos, the limitations of
insurance policies and the social stigma associated with
suicide, it has been estimated that as much as 0% of
suicidal behavior in young persons is disguised or not
reported ** Furthermore, for every successfully
completed suicide by a young person, there are many
more attempts — perhaps as many as 30-150 for each
one successfully completed .44

THEORIES OF SUICIDE

Much controversy surrounds the etiology of suicide,
particularly suicide among the young. Although there is
much clinical information on suizidal attempts by
children and adolescents, there have been very few
controlled empirical studies of these attempts. No single
theory sufficiently explains the etiology of suicide in
adolescents, and research to date has produced
conflicting results.*?
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One of the basic theories of the dynamics of suicide
behavior was first tormulated by Freud.* Applying the
psychodynamic theor; to adolescence, the suicidal
adolescent is depicted as having experienced loss of
love, “cprivation and rejection in relation to important
persons in his/her life. As a result, the adolescent
develops feelings of anger and resentment toward these
depriving persons for denying hiin/her affection and
nurturance. These aggressive impulses toward those
who are also love objects cause the adolescent to
experience guilt and thereby increases his/her feelings of
‘*badness.”’ The adolescent’s need to assuage these guilt
feelings then results in self-desiructive attitudes and
behaviors, 0.1

Developmental psychologists emphasize the stresses
that accompany a particular stage of the life cycle.
Adolescence is viewed as a time of great change, crisis
and pressure with a tendency for impulsive overreaction
to stressful situations. The precipitating event leading to
suicide is seen by developmentalists as the culmination
of a longstanding sense of entrapment and rage. The
precipitating problems leading to a suicide attempt
ususlly begin in the adolescent’s envitonment and en-
compass such things as moving, changing schools.
breaking up with a boyfriend or girlfriend. death of a
parent or caretaker, parents' divorce or alcoholism in a
family member *-1?

Cognitive theorists stress the importance of con-
sidering what the adolescent means when he con-
siders his/her own death, T?  adolescent sometimes has
a sense o) , ersonal immortality because death appears
so remote. For these adolescents, death is not final, but
rather & reversible process. Such a perspective is thought
to be the result not only of incomplete intellectual
development, but also cultural attitudes and the
influence of th - media which support the notion of the
unreality of u.eth. In some suicide attempts, this
irrational thinking is reflected in the attempter's hope to
join a lost loved one, to make an important figure love
him ot to represent, symbolically, a rebirth after
death ¢ 10

Durkheim is foremost among those who take &
sociological view of suicide — that is, the result of
anomie-withdrawal, resulting in a loss of social contact
and a sense of isolation from the rest of society. Such
factors as family conflict and environmental changes
characterize this phenomenon of anomie."

Regardless of any particular theoretical orientation,
much attention has been focused on family variables
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telated to depiessive and suicidal behavior 1n
adolescents A review of research nindings indicates a
relanonship between adolescent suicide and a family
background of ma.ital instability, economic stress,
disruption of residence and long and bitter parent-child
confhict Such fanuly factors are thought to result in the
adolescent feeling rejected, unloved and unworthy 43!
Several researchers have noted the frequency of
depression, recent death and suicide in the family
histories of depressed and suicidal adolescents. This
death trend 1 the family histories of suifidal
adolescents mav indicate emotional deprivation as a
result of the loss as well as an \dentification with the
deceased and or modeling of ther means of dealing
with stress » - .
While these theories and research findings pertaining

to adolescent suicide may appear somewhat contra-
dictory, Smuth’* contends that they all agree on one
point — that the individual's actions result from forces
over which he has litle or no control In addition,
certain precipitating events which can be monitored are
commaon to all theoretical orientations These
theorerial models of adolescent suinide indicate that the
problem 1s a multdisciphinary one that must be attacked
on all froms - medical, psvchological, social and
educational

ROLE OF THE CLASSROOM TEACHER

The role of the cla.sroom teacher 15 inevitably inter-
twined in the hives of adolescents and their families a< a
result of the importance of the school in the normal
matutanonal process  The school 1s the natural
extension of the tamily 1n the student's development. It
15 important that school personnel resist the notion that
school Iife and home life are separate systems Oficn
teachers are the confidants of students who are under
stress, sometimes they are the first outside the family to
know of a problem, either by rumor, direct contact with
the student or by an observed behavioral change in the
student  Suicides rarely occur without warning, and
teachers should be aware of both direct and indirect
distress signals  Numerous hehavioral changes have
heen assouiated with adolescent  depression and
sutcide * 'Y These should be observed for possible
referral to the school counselor or psychologist,
particularly if several are present The teacher, however,
should noi over react Not all adolescents who have
these behavioral changes become suicidal, however, the
majonty of adolescents who have attempted suicide
have ewidenced such changes in behavior. These
behavioral changes or cues include the following

— & drastic change in the student's personal ap-
pearance, particularly from good to bad.

- somatic complaints — muscle aches and pains,
stomachaches, backaches, headaches, diarrhea;

— inability to concentrate and problems in
Judgement and memory;

— a dramatic shift 1n the quality of school work,

~ changes indaily behavior and living patterns, such
as exrremne fanpue. bhoredom, stammenng and-or
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decreased appetite;

— social behavior changes including behavioral dis.
orders in class, falling asleep in class, emotional out-
bursts possibly compounded with crying or laughter, in-
ability to sit still, sudden bursts of energy followed by
lethargy and excessive use of alcohol and drugs;

— open signs of mental illness, such as delusions and
hallucinations;

~— a sense of overwhelming guilt and shame;

~ loss of fnends

1t 1s also important for teachers to note that, in addi-
tion to the many personal crises that affect adolescents,
some of the major life crises that occur in adults may
drastically affect the psychological, familial and
adaptive spheres of adolescent fife. Siuations that
might seem relatively unimportant to the teacher could
be very painful to the adolescent. The following might
be a helpful checklist of life crises for teachers in
referring a student to a school counselor or
psychologist, particularly if they are accompanied by
the aforementioned behavioral changes: (Again,
teachers should be aware that the presence of these
crises, even along with the behavioral changes, does not
necestanly imply suicidal behavior.p

— the death of a family member, close friend nr
relative;

— the divorce or separation of parents, siblings or
relatives;

— personal problems with the law or a family
member who is having present difficulty with the law;

— personal injury or ch* wnic iliness of the adolescent
or close family member or .riend;

— the marriage of a sibhing or remarriage of a
parent;

— being fited from a job or a parent being fired from
a job;

— the retirement of a parent;

— a drastic change in health of a close family
member or friend;

— the adolescent’s own pregnancy, abortion or birth
of a baby and/or that of a sibling or parent;

— a drastic change either for the better or worse 1n
the famly financial status which would include business
failures, successes and foreclosures;

— a sibling leaving home for college, camp;

— outstanding or poor personal achievement by the
adolescent;

— a mother beginning or stopping a work career;

— the beginning or ending of school;

~— achange in residence;

— the adolescent having trouble with a teacher or
teachers or a parent having trouble with his/her own
boss at work;

-- vacations, holidays and the first week of spring
are often stressful times in the adolescent's life, the
anniversary of a parent's divorce and/or birthdate;

~ the death of a pet.

One of the most important psychological crises of
which teachers are often aware is boy-gir! refationship
problems Breaking up with one’s boyfriend or girl-
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friend, even after dating only two or three weeks, can
often precipitste acute depression on the part of the
acolescent. Younger adolescents often form intense,
sometimes fantasized relationships with members of the
opposite sex. The disruption of these relationships can
be very stressful. If the sdolescent has other
peychological difficulties at the same time, the breakup
can be extremely upsatting.

Studies of adolescent suicide attempters indicate that
school adjustment is often one of the major
pecipitating fuctors. School performance was simost
usiformly poot in these samples. Poor grades, truancy
and discipline problems have been found to characterize
some of these sdolescents, T is interesting to note that s
disproportionate number of suicides occur in the spring
and fall when school prodlems are often paramount.*

Thus, the classroom teacher is witness 1o many major
indicators of student distress. But the teacher serves thr
educational function hete as well. Frank and opr
discussion of suicide with students is s significant aspect
of death education and should help dispel myths
surrounding suicide. Discussing suicide will so/ make
depressed students more inclined toward suicide;
typically, they are emotionally relieved.
Communi: atioa actually helps to modify the likelihood
of sn sttempt."'* However, 1eachers should be aware
that suicide is an extremely difficult subject to discuss.
Although it must not he ignored, some students may
respond & non-caring, inatientive and/or giddy as a
result of the ar«iety raised by the subjeci matter.
Student assemblies could also be an appropriate forum
for education sbout suicide, Speakers in the areas of
child and family development, clinical psychology,
heslih and medicine could provide a thorough overview
of the problem.

Beside the classroom teacher's Primary role of refer-
ral and education in regard 10 suicide, the teacher
should be expected to work with ths counselor or school
psychologist when appropriste.’® The teacher can
provide a great deal of intormation as & result of daily
observations and interaction with the adolescent. The
teacher must teke all suicide thr ats seriously.
Frequently thore who threaten suicide do follow
through; they'rc: not just “‘crying wolf.”" Marks and
Haller found little difference between those who
threatened suicide and those who actually atten pted it,’
The reacher, 2owever, must avoid the tendency to be s
counselor to either student or parent. Tive teacher can
make parents sware of any problems and acquaint them
with appropriate sov=ces of referral.

With additional training, teachers could possibly play
& more sctive role in suicide prevention, Workshops
could be undertaken to acquaint teachers with the
theory and study of suicide, ie, sources of emotional
and interpersonal disturbances. Teachers also could
learn about community resources snd techniques of
referrai. Along with this theoretical training, teachers
might participate actively in & suicide prevention center
or crisis "*hotline’ after special clinical training. V/hile
not all teachers have the interest, time or skills to
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become actively involved with this problem. it is imper-
tant that teachers in all Cisciplines be cognizant of the
life stresses and behavioral caianges in their students and
not pass these events off as Unimportant or less impor-
1ant than the subject matter they are teaching,
Preparstion of Lhis masuscript was supported in part by & gran from
the Chuldeen’s Hospital R % Foundstion. Columbdus, Ohio
a8

Repriat requests 10 Depasiment of Fasly Rslstions and Human
Devetopmant, 313 Campbell Hall, 1787 Neil Ave., Columbus, Oo
43210 (Dr. McKeary).
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California Scaate Bill No. 947

CHAPTER 750

An act to add and repeal Chapter 3 (comunencing with Section
10200) of Part 7 of the Lducation Code, relating to schools, and
making an appropriation therefor.

{Approved by Governor September 12, 1083, Filed with
Secretary of State September 13, 1993,

LECGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DICEST

S 9d47, Presley. Schools: youth suicide prevention school
programs _ '

Current law authorizes various programs to be jointly conducted
by state and local educational agencies or institutions.

This bill would provide for the developmient of a statewide youth
suicidle  prevention program through  the  establislurent  of
state-mandated demonstiation programs in 2 designated counties.
Ioxnisting suicide prevention and crisis centers located within those
countics would serve as coordinating centers for the planning and
developiment of the statewide program. Any interested county
which submits it request to the State Department of Fducation to
participate in that process by a specified date would be permitted to
do so.

The bill would require the Departiment of Education to annually
report to the Legislature regarding the status and effectiveness of the
programs established pursuant to this act, and would establish a
sontinuously appropriated  Youth  Suicide  Prevention  School
Program Fund to be administered by the departinent for the
purposes of this act. ‘The bill would express the intent of the
Legislature that $300,000 he appropriated to this fund by the Budget
Act of 1984 and in the event that a lesser amount or no momnwy is
appropriated, tyt the Youth Suicide Prevention School Program
only be implemented to the extent funds are inade available. The bill
would specify that none of the wrovisions of this act shall be
constiued to prohibit the department from providing financial
assistance from that fund to other counties, in addition to the
counties maintaimng the demonstration programs, for purposes of
youth suicicde prevention school programs. Any county receiving
such funds would be required to annually provide the Director of
Finance, the Legidature, and the department with a specified
accoumting and program evaluation report for the previous year.

The provisions of this bill would become operative on July 1, 1984.

Arlicle NI B of the California Constitution and Sections 2231 and
223 of the Revenue and Taxation Code require the state to
reimburse local agencies and school districts for certain costs
mandated by the state. Other provisions require the Department of

\
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Froancee to review statntes diselauning these costs and provide, in
cerlain cases, for making claims 1o the State Board of Control for
reimbursement

This bilh would impose a state-mandated loeal program in the two
countics designated to maintain the demonstration youth suicide
prevention schiool programs pursuant to the provisions of the bill.

‘This bhill would provide that no appropriation is made by this act
for. the purpose of making reimbursement pursuant to the
constitutional mandate or Section 2231 or 2234, but would recognize
that local agencies and sehool districts may pursue their other
available remedies to seck reimbursement for these costs.

This bill wouled repeal the provisions establishing the youth suicide
prevention «chool programs on June 30, 1987,

Appropriation: yes. )

1he people of the State of Cahfornia do enact as follows:

SECTHON 1 Chapter 3 (conmmencing with Section 102(0) is
added to Pant 7 of the Education Code, to read:

CHAPIER 3. YoutH SUICIDE PREVENTION SCHOOL PROGRAM

10200, The Vegidature _makes the [ollowing findings and
declirations of intent:

(1) A statewide vouth suicide prevention program is essential in
order to address the continuing problem of youth s'mc-xde throughout
the state

(hy The suicide problem often exists in combination wnth other
problems, sueh as drug abuse and alcohol use.

() A cuicide prevention program  for young people  must
cemphasize a partnership between educational programs at the state
and loeal lesels and eommunity suicide presention and crisis center
agencies Inorder to facifitate this partnership, the Legislatyre finds
and dechiresthat it is of vital importiance that a statewide primary
prevention progiun be established with shared responsibility at both
the state and county levels and that this cooperation shall be a major
tool in elforts to achieve the successiul prevention of youth suicide.

() The progeam established pursuant to this chapter is intended
by the Lewmsliture to delegate primary respoansibility for the
development of a youth suicide prevention progiam to existing
comnty suicide prevention agencics through the establishment of a
demonstration program. The Legislature recognizes that county
cticide prevention and crisis center agencies are best suited for
dealing with youth suicide, as demonstrated by their past success in
youth suicide prevention in California,

10203, (1) In view of the purpose and intent of this chapter, as
expressed in Section 10200, highest priority [or progrim funding
undler this ch.\ptor shall be designated to those counties which
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ciphavze jont school-community  youth suicide prevention
projims

(LY s the intent of the Legidature that, to the manimum extent
possible, funds made avaiable for the purpose of this chapter shall
be vsed to support existing programs which have demonstrated a
capacity to meet the needs of young people and families in the

" prevention of suicide, and to support two demonstration yorth

suicide prevention «chool programs, one of which shall he located in
a Northern California county, the other in a Southerin California
county.

(¢) In view of the mgent need to begin development of a
statewide yonth saicide prevention program at the lowest cost to the
statesand with the participation of existing suicide preyention and
crisis center aggencies to the greatest extent possible, and in order to
ensure that the provram will mect the needs of all economic and
cthoic groups in Cahlornia, the Legislatore hereby designates San
Mateo County and Los Angeles County as the locations of the two
demonstration vouth suicide prevention school programs.

102100 () The demonstration programs in San Miteo and Los
Angeles counties, hereinadter referred to as “demonstration
comntices” shall be maintained for a period not to eaceed three years
from the operative date of this chapter, according to the Tollo ving
schedule:

() Planning and development of the county demonstration
progiam shall be completed by June 30, 1983,

(2) Implementation of the county demonstration program shall
be completed by June 30, 1996.

(M Fach demonstration county shall evaluate its demonstration
programy ind submit areport of it findings to the State Department

-of Education, the Legisluture, and the Governor on or befere Junuary
1, 1987,

10212 (a) Until October 1, 1984, any county in the stite may,
throngliis board of education, subnnta reguest to participate in the
plannimg and devgopment of the statewide program to the Stale
Departinent of Fdueation.

(b) Each demonstration county  shall designiate the  suicide
prevention and ervis centers located within the county to serve as
coordiniing, centers for the planning and development of the
statewide youth suicide prevention school program. The State
Depattiment ol Lducation, in cooperation with the designated
coordinating centers, shall publish procedures for the participation
of all interested counties in the planning and development of the
statewrede proprom

() Phiming and development of the statewide program shall be
comnpleted by June 30, JY43.

10213 No provision of this chapter shall be construed to prohibit
the State Department of Education from providing  financial
assistance from the Youth Suicide Prevention School Program Fund
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to other couties, in addition to the demonstration covmties, for
purposes of youth suicide preveation school programs, including, but
not Yimited to, those programs set forth in Section 10215.

10214.  Funds reccived by a county board of education in order to
carry out the purposes of this chapter shall he deposited in a separate
county Youth Suicide Prevention Srhool Program fund established
for that purpose. On or before January 1 of each year, any county
whic' ' received state funds for the purposes of this chapter shall
provid-  he Director of Finance, the Legislature, and the State
Departiment of Fducation with an accounting of expenditures for its
youth suicide nrevention school program and revenues received for
the program from sources other than the state, amd with a program
evaluation report for the previous year. . .

10215 ‘Thie youth suicide prevention school programs established
putsnant to Section 10210 shall plan, fund, and implement
educational programs, which may include any of the following:

(1) Classiocm instruction designed te achieve any of the following
objrctives: .

(1) Fncourage sound decision making and promote ethical
developiment

(2) Increase pupils’ awareness of the relationship. between drug
and alcohol use and youth suiride. ,

(3) Teach pupile to recognize signs of suicidal tendencies, and
other fucts about youth suicide. :

(4) Inform pupils of available community youth suicide
prevention services.

(5) Enhance school climate and relationships between teachers,
counsclors, and Hupils

(6) Further  cooperative  efforts of  school  personnel  and
community vouth smcide presention program personnel.

(h) Nonchissroom  sehool  or  community  based  alternative
programs, including, but not limited to:
(1) Poutive peer group progeims,

(2) A 2€hionr “hotline” telephone service, staffed by trained
prolessional counselors

(3) Programs to collect data on youth suicide attempts.

(1) Intervention and postsention services.

(%) Parent education and triining programs.

(¢) Teacher training programs.

10220 “The Departinent of Education shall enter into an
interagrency agreerment with the appre; iate county board of
ecducation lor the implemenation of an approved Youth Suicide
Pirevention & ael Progrram,

10230 the Depertment of Edocation, the county board of
education, school districts, and the county suicide L evention agencey
i ear b ey maintaining a progrann pursuant to tis chapter shall
cidablich  procedures  Jor - the  cooperative  collection and
dhscermnation 7 data regarding the implementation of the
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provisions of this chapter

10235 “Lhe Department of Fducation shall submit an annual
1eport to the Lemslature vegarding the current status and
ellectiveness ol the programs established pursuant to this chapter.

10240 “Thereishereby created in the State Treasury a fund which
shall be known as the Youth Suicide Prevention School Program
Fune. The fund shall consist of funds appropriated by the annual
Budgel Act, as well asany private sector money as may be made
available, Notwithstindig Sceetion 13340 of the Government Code,
the fund shall be continuonsly appropriated. The Departinent of
Fducation shall administer the fund for the purposes of this chapter.
and shall use no more than § percent of the balance of the fund to
mecet administrative costs,

710242 “The provisions of this chapter shall become operative on
Julv 1. 198

10245 “This chapler shall rerain in effeet only until June 30, 1947,
and as of that date is repealed, unless a later enacted statute, which
is chaptered before June 30, 1987, deletes or eatends that date.

SEC 20 Tt is the imtent of the Legisliture that the spun of three
hundied thonsand dollars (2300,000) be appropriated from the
General Fund to the Youth Suiride Prevention School Program IFund
by the 1981 85 Budzet Act. In “ae event that a lesser amount or no
money is appropriated, it is the intent of the Legislature that the
Youlh Suicide Presvention School Program be implemented caly to
the extent that funds are made available,

SEC 25 Ttis the intent of the Legishiture that the Department
of Education use n part of the arnount appropriated from the General
Fund to the Youtl Suicide Presention School Program IFund by the
1984 &5 Budpet Act for the purpoce of complving with Section 10235
of the Iidueation Coae. Iis also the intent of the Legislature that the
coats of cornplying with Section 10235 of the Feducation Cade not be
incladed in caleolating the 5-percent limitation on eapenditures for
adimnstrative costs imposced by Section 10240 of the Lducation
(.odoe o~

SEC 30 Nobwthstanding: Section 6 of article XIHTB of the
Cabifornia Constitution and Section 2231 or 2234 of the Revenue and
Tasation Code, no appropriation is made by thisact for the purpose
ol by reimbursement pursuant lo these sections It s
recoguuzed, however, that a local ageney or sehool district may
prcaie iy temedies Lo obtain reimbussement avinlable to it under
Chapter 3 (commerning with Section 2201) of Part 4 of Division |
of that code.
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In: Colombek, H. & Garfinkel, B.D. The Adolescent and Mood
Disturbance. N.Y.: International Universities Press, 1983.

CHAPTER FOURTEEN

SUICIDE IN ADOLERSCENCE:
PREVENTION AND TREATMENT

NorMAN L. FAKBEROW

A rock rong a few years ago lainented: “It's the same thing cvery day, well,
I can't get out of bed/Too mary questions that's confusing up my head.”
Chorus: “I gnt that teen-age depression, and thats what I'm talking
about/If you don’t know what I mean, then you better look out.” The song
was entitled Teen-age Depression and went on to deplore, with liberal use of
four-letter words, the problems of family, school, and drugs.

Tlis song reflects an alarmingly common international phenomenon
of depression and suicide among the young, which is apparent in the sui-
cide siatistics for adolescents and young adults, aged 15 to 24, in many
parts of the world. In Finland, for example, suicide by adolescents increased
128% between 1965 and 1973, while the rate for the entire poj ulation rosc
only 19% (1). During the same period, in Israel, suicide ainong all ages
was down 3%, but 155 more young people took their own lives (1). In
Japan, suicides by youth climbed 32% between 1968 and 1474, while the
rate for the total population increased 24% (1). The U.5.A. saw a 70% rise
from 1966 1o 1974 for 15 to 24-year-olds, while the rate for the total popu-
lation increased only 18% (2). Similarly, between 1965 and 1974, Canada
1cported a 1565 increase in rate {or the youny group, in contrast to a 47 %
increase for the total population (1).

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE SUICIDAL ADOLESCENT

Who and why are the young killing theniselves so readily? A search of the
literature since 1970 yields at least 120 references to published reports and
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papers presented about suicide by young people. Assuming that this is an
incomplete record of the actual nuinber published, we can estimate that be-
tween 150 and 200 articles about suicide among the young were written
during the past decade —an impressive number, averaging 17 to 22 publi-
cations annually, signifying the great concern about this problem,

[1eviewed 35 reports from all parts of the world: 19 froin the U.S.A.,
3 from France, 2 each from Britain, Canada, and Japan, and 1 each from
Australia, Germany, India, Norway Poland, Sweden, and Yugoslavia.
These articles (which are listed on pages 234-237) reported studies of ado-
lescents and children whose suicide had been recorded in coroners’ offices or
who had appeared in hospitals, clinics, and schools as a result of hay g at-
tempted or threatened suicide. The characteristics most frequently noted
were summarized and tallied to identify the young people who are most at
risk.

FEELING STATES

The most frequently mentioned feeling state was depression and hope-
lessness (in 12 reports),* along with emotional and physical symptoms such
as sleep disturbances, changes in eating habits, trouble concentrating,
fatigability, apathy, agitation, .nd anxiety. Aggression and hostility were
noted frequently (7), along with low frustration tolerance and low impulse
control (3). Each of the other emoational reactions, such as guilt, anger,

fear, cmbarrassment, shame, and the general «erm “emotional disturbance,”
was cited at lcast once.

HISTORY

A suicidal history, of attcmpt's or threats or suicidal ideas, was consid-
ered especially significant (10). This confirms our experience that use of a
suicidal mode in response to critical situations and severe interpersonal
problems is likely to be repeated, often with increased potential lethality
(3). A history of psychotherapy and/or hospitalization seemed signiticant
(5), but more a5 an indication of ¢motional disturbance with behavior so
deviant that professional attentinn had been required. Suicidal behavior in
the family or among friends was mentioned only once as an itnportant iden-
tifying factor.

8OCIAL ASPECTS
The social behaviors most frequently mentioned were withdrawal and

isolation, accompanied — as might be expected — by poor personal relation-

* The numbers in italics indicate the number of siticles in which the characteristic was
noted.
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ships (12). 'The subjects had few contacts with their peers, and even less
communication with them. They had fewer sexual ceatacts than is usual
(3). and felt unce mfortable and uneasy with the oprusite sex. Their achicve-
ment in school was poor (17), and they expressed frequent worries about
performance in class and on examinations (9). Special note was made of
drug abuse and/or heavy use of alcohol, but these were reported as signifi-
cant by only three investigators and apparently were not considered highly
important factors in the sutadal activity of the young. There were infre-
quent mentions of a low rate of church afliliation (2) and membership in a
low sociveconomic class (3). '

INTERPERSONAT AND DYNAMIC ASPECTS

Parental and fanily interaction had the greatest number of significani
factors. This arca of disturbed relationships with the parents, including loss
o1 threacened loss of a parent, was considered crucial by most of the authors
(20). Parental discord (71) and even assault by and between the parents (3)
viere mentioned, along with aleoholism in the family (4) and pacents’ pro-
jecting themselves un their children (3). As mentioned earlier, disturbance
of this relationship affects school performance and leads to severe social and
intcipersonal difhcaltics,

Both the fanily and the school have thus been idemtified as playing
major roles in the suicidal behavior of young people today,

FAMILY AND SCIHOOL, ROLES

The 1+ ' two or three decades have seen great changes in the famiiy
and its role in society. Helen Frank commented (4): “The family reflects the
cultural trend towards replacing commitinent, involvement, and tender-
ness with self-aggrandizement, exploitativeness and titillation. The stimu-
lation of unlimited expectations and the impossible need to validate onesclf
through fulfillment of them have helped change individualism to egocentri-
cism to the detriment of the family” (p. 91). Etzioni (5) described a continu-
ally expanding divestiture of missions from the family to other institutions:
cducation has been invested in the school, meals are nbtained at fast-food
outlets, economic dependence has been broken by the equal-rights move-
ment, and the care of children has been delegated to day-care centers. Mar-
riape L constdered less important than formerly, and second marriages are
touter] as better than the first, The emotional bonds between husband and
wife have been belittled. Shorter stated (6): “A fundamental change in fam-
ily hife is under way, a tiansition from the ‘nuclear family’ of the 1940s and
'50s to the ‘couple family’ that is rapidly emerging today...” (p. 10).

The family thus scems to have abre sated its responsibility for prepar-
ing the child for appropriate functioning in adult society, The resulting
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vacuum, unfilled by other social institutions and ignored or denied by
schools, has been filled instead by peers. One consequence has been a shift
in emphasis to self rather than society, with responsibilitics and obligations
to others subordinated to gratification of self. Self-focus, self-exploration,
sclf-expression, self-fulfillment, self-awarei.css, all summed up in the
phrasc “doing your own thing,” have become not only acceptable, but
desirable. Parents not only have approved this marked shift in values in
their children, but in many instances have adopted the new values for
themselves. Separation and detachment from and by the children have left
the latter with a sense of alienation, lack of continuity, and instability. The
feeling of security that comes from a sense of belonging to a nurturing fami-
ly environment within which supportive learning could take place has been
lost. The affluent society has contributed to this state by providing financial
and social independence before youth is ready and car. handic them. The
iamily role has been further changed by the women's-liberation movement,
as increasing numbers of women have moved out of the home and back into
the work force. Although this adjustment is seen as long overdue, there
have been no compensatory movements to make up f.; the loss of the
mother in the home. Adjustment to this shift is still in process, with many
more changes undoubtedly yet to come.

Repschitz (7) listed several features of today’s society that contribute to
the alienation and loneliness characterizing our youth. He noted how par-
ents have provided an unfortunate example by their ready use of drugs to
alleviate any anxiety or stress, and by behaving as if these were feelings to
be avoided at all costs. Drugs of many kinds, especially analgesics, tran-
quilizers, and soporifics, can be found in most households, their casy avail-
ability facilitating impulsive ingestion. Repschitz deplored the lack of inhi-
bitions and discipline that characterize communication today in what he
calls an erroncous interpretation of free expression. He stated that the young
have scized upon what they consider the right, if not the obligation, to ex-
press themselves when the impulse occurs, regardless of time, place, and
appropriateness. The result is narcissism and an uncontrolled release of in-
stinctual drives. This tendency has served to drive the wedge even further
between youth and adult, since the adults were educated to inhibit and con-
trol their free expression, whereas today’s y>ung are not.

[tis also believed that excessive sexual license has further increased ali-
enation among the young (7). As sexual inti'nacy has lost its sense of warmth
and tenderness, under the bombardment of advertising, television, “pop
stars,” pornography and X-rated films, mechanized sex has become a bore.
Increased rates of separation and divorce, especially among teenagers, sup-
po-t this conclusion. Along with loss of meaning in life has been the feeling
that life at present is uncertain and tenuous in the extreme. The young
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have had to deal with the nuclear age ard its potential for instant termina-
.on, with a callousness for life exeniplified by exterinination camps and
indiflerence to “the boat people,” and to a marked increase in violence and
murders, all leading to a feeling of living on the brink of disaster; life has
become cheap and readily expendable.

Repschitz (7) and Weissman (8) feel that physical changes too have
contributed to the increase in suicides by youth. Physical development oc-
curs earlier today, as a result of improved nutrition, medical care, social
services, and economic conditions. At the same time, the age of entrance
into gainful employment and independence has been delayed. The speed of
attainment of physical maturity has not been paralleled by emotional growth,
however, causing increasing disparity betwecn physical capability and the
emotional maturity required to appreciate the consequences of one's
actions. Suicide among children below 15 years of age is also reported to
have increased, although the numbers remain comparatively small, and
their validity vrobably is even more tenuous than the numbers and rates for
any other age group (9-11).

‘The schuols also are not mecting the needs of today’s youth. Difficul-
ties in learning lead to self-defeat and frustration, resulting in poor achieve-
ment, thus creating a vicious cycle (12). Rohn, Sarles, Kenny, Reynolds,
and Heald (13) reported that of 65 voung people who had attempted sui-
cide, 75% had poor scholastic records, 35% were truants, 35% had chronic
discipline problems, and 19% failed one or inore grades. Althsugh the
school's immediate responsibility is to impart information on specified
subjects, it is also a primary source for inodels of social adaptation. Intro-
duction of the primarily youth-centered problem of drug abuse caused fran-
tic panic reactions on campuses as the schools tried to cope. The problem of
drugs and alcohol brought in by a relatively small pre portion of students
produced an atmosphere of massive chaos and confusion, suspicion and
mistrust; undercover agents, deception, and trickery were introduced, and
violence and cheating became common experiences of school life. The
students berame confused, bitter, and resentful,

In short, suicide by the young is a major, increasingly visible problem
that is hichly influenced by problems in the family, school, community,
and society.

TREATMENT PROGRAMS

Glaser's assertion (14) that treatment of uicidal adolescents requires an
eclectic, Hlexible approach, using all available methods and resources
separately, sequentially, and in conjunction, is unquestionably fitting. A
comprehensive program should be widespread, made up of several special
programs. It should include not only crisis intervention, “the secondary
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arca” in public-health terminology, but also primary care activities aimed at
preventing the event; and teriiary care, with follow-up, hospitalization
wher necessary, and rehabilitation to help the person recover from the
suicidal behavior and adjust better to his environment.

Primary prevention requires removal or modification of causes or pre-
cipitants so that the condition does not occur,; thi. ineans getting at the basic
structure of social and family life (8). To be effective, it should aim appro-
priately at educating parents in mental-health principles of child-rearing,
with special emphasis on the development of identity, self-esteem, basic
trust, and feelings of self-worth, and in the need for responsibility to others
as well az oneself. Social changes, such as reducing the divorce rate, re-em-
phasizing the faraily as a nuclear unit, increasing communication between
family members, and re-establishing the family as a primary support, are
further desirable goals, but their achievement will require major cultural
reorganization,

Other more inunediate, primary preven ive methods should include
programs that focus on early identification of potential suicides within high-
risk groups, and then intervention with information, modeling, involve-
ment, close and repeated association, and continued evidence of caring.
Psychiatric and delinquent youth are examples of groups within which the
potential for suicide needs to be assessed constantly, and programs of
prevention initiated (10, 15).

Both primary and secondary cflurts are necessary in the schools. A
comprehensive program of prevention directed toward teachers as well as
students should aim at educating both groups to serve as “gatekeepers.”
They should be trained to recognize the various guises in which suicide
might appear, and to reduce the taboos around the event; thus the usual
reactions (i.e., denial, embarrassment, and shaine) need not prevent a
distressed child from expressing his wish for help, or potential rescuers from
responding to his communications. Any form of deviant behavior should be
investigated immediately and followed up (16).

One such program has been initiated successfully in the Suicide Pre-
vention and Crisis Intervention Center at San Mateo, near San Francisco.
Ross and Lee (17) wrote two brochures, one directed to school guidance
personnel and teachers, the other to students. For the studeats, the authors
included six warning signs: suicide threats, statements revealing a desire to
die, previous suicide attempts, sudden changes in behavior, depression,
and making final arrangements. In visits to schools, professionals from the
Center meet the staff and students to present infornation on suicide, rea-
sons for concern, and what to do about it. The cr tical points are empha-
sizecdd many times: listen, without being judgmentzl; do not help the person
deny problems; indicate interest and concern; enlist help; re-establish ¢m-
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munication with significant others; and use professional help, if necessary,
for evaluation. A film, Suicide at 17, has been produced especially for school
personnel; it details the case of a school student who became suicidal and
killed himself.

The principles and procedures developed for school personnel are also
useful for most other gatekeeper groups, such as physicians, police, and
clergy, and social organizations. It is inost helpful to reassure such groups
that they are not asked to be therapists or to assume full responsibility for
helping, which is often a frightening obligation; rather, their primary pur-
pose should be earl; identification, support through evidence of caring, and
referral to trained persons when necessary,

Secondary prevention services, aimed at reducing any disability as
soon as possible after its onset, are provided by suicide-prevention centers,
crisis centers, community mental-health centers, and hospital emergency
roonis, adolescents may use these services directly or be referred by others
in the community. Physicians, clergy, teachers, police, and other indi-
vidual or group gatekeepers play a major role in this phase, serving as first
contacts with the community’s social services.

Many adolescents identify themsclves as suicidal through a suicide
atteinpt or threat, or through severe depression, withdrawal, hopelessness,
and othier disturbed behavior, The first objective of treatinent is survival
beyond the crisis. Principles of treatment to cope with a crisis experienced
by an adolescent are the sume as those applicd to any other age group:
establishing rapport and trust, focusing, assessing the potential for suicide,
evaluating resources, and making recommendations for disposition and
treatment. Details of deviiopment for each step are included in the Los
Angeles Suicide Prevention Center Manual (18).

“Hot lines” and “crisis lines” for youth are useful in encouraging direct
contact from distressed persons. A special feature of these inay be the use of
workers who are young themselves; they are carefully selected, usually
from among university graduates, or from colleges where psychology,
narsing cducation, premedical, and other such courses credit the experi-
ence. ‘Training is by professionals, with emphasis on the principles of inter-
viewing, including establishing rapport, genuineness, and empathy, and
the recognition of severe disturbances that require professional help. The
extent of personal involvemient is carefully monitored to avoid the common
pitfall of doing too much, ¢.g., the Magna Mater Complex (“1 shall take
care of all your problems”) and the Jehovah Complex (“I'm the only one
who can handle this difficult casc”) are described as reactions to be avoided.
Youthful personnel of suicide-prevention and crisis centers are also exzel-
kent representatives in work with schools and other youth organizations.

Ter .ary prevention with suicidal youth involves long-term rehabilita-
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ton, and usually requires the tull tange of therapentic modalities, Toolan
(1) feels that every young person who atterapts o threatens suicide should
be evalinated thoroughly  Plefler (19) wiated that the psychiatric hospital
temens ofwicidalyoune childeen is lengthy, and vequires the participa-
tion of the funily If o chald cannot reann horme because of insufficient
changes in the fanuly and environment, it imay be necessary to arrange for
residential care ehewhere Other outpatient and inpatient therapies may
involve grovp, familyand psychopharmacologic techniques. However, no
one methud can be preferted over all others, for, as Plefler pointed out (1o,
theve huve been few systematic long term prospective <tudies of ¢hldren
who, mitiadly suicidal, Lave been followed up through adolescence into
adulthood for the purpose of evaliating the benehts of various therapies.

Noanatrer what the treatuent modality — individuat, group, or family,
inpahent or ontpaticut, prolonged or brief— the therapists primary objec-
tive teto save the person's life, and then to help himn change his feelings (and
his covironinent, where feasible) so that he can function comfortably an
prodactively Severe personality disturbance makes the task much harder.

Surcidal bebordion i youth is nearly adways a sign of poor conmunica-
tion with parents, and apenine the lines of cormmunication is fundamental
(20) Glaser (1) emplusized the need wo analyze the child's self-imase care.
fully, 1o help sepacate those eletents that ave alterable frorn those that are
not If medications are used, they must be carefully monitored to ensure
they are taken correctly, and the patient must be warned of any possible
side-eftects, such as dryness of the mouth or drowsiness.

Family therapy seems espedially useful, judging by the extensive con-
tribution to suicidal behavior that has been attributed to the family. Rich-
man (21), reporting his use of family therapy in the treatment of many suici-
dal persons, described the tight defense a family develops against the anxicty
produced by swicidai behavior of one of its members. This “closed family
system” is characterized by four features: disruption of ties to other institu-
tions by constriction and isolation, forcing its members to rely on cach
other for satisfying their needs; prohibition of intimacy with non-family
mermbers by treating any outside encroachment as an enemy; emotional
isolation of the suicidal person by alienating that person both from outside
contacts and within the family; and domination by a fragile family
member, as i the case of parents who are weak, in need of protection, or
even potentially suicidal themselves. The family may not be closed at all
tirnes; it may vary between open and closed states according to conditions
of stress and crisis.

Pluzck (22) uses a direct social-modification approach in her program
in Cracow, Poland. Youth (nmostly between 15 and 20 years old) who have
attemnpted suicide are invited to join a club, and are seen in group treat-
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ment. There are at least five kinds of groups, depending on the patient’s
needs: insight therapy, learning work habits, organizing leisure time, stim-
ulation of interests, and relaxation therapy, incduding sports. She reported
suc cess with all of the procedures, but admitted there are some chronic pa-
tients with a long history of maladjusted behavior who remain at high risk
lony after the attempt at suicide. Here crisis intervention is not enough:
treatinent must be continued to help these youny people not only through
the suicidal situation, but also through the complicated process of develop-
1y a more mature personality,

CONCLUSION

Although the long-range goals of altering suciety and schools are slow in
arviving, change in secondary and tertiary processes for suicide prevention
can be initiated at any tlme. Treatment takes many forins, the basic ingre-
dients being the attitudes and motivations of professionals and the public.
With society alerted to the fact that the young are killing themselves at an
alarming and ever-increasing rate, both the motivation and the opportunity
eterye for wide-ranging programs of prevention and treatment.

The objective common to all such programs would be to overcome the
lethal combination of feelings of worthlessness, helplessness, and hopeless-
ness; thus, the essential ingredient of all approaches is the development of
interest and caring for each youngster who despairs, a factor proven funda-
mental and effective in preventing suicide.
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